MASTER AGREEMENT

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO - DIVISION 26

2005 - 2008

2005-2008 MASTER AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF DETROIT AND DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ART	TICLE NO.	AGE	NO.
1.	Agreement and Recognition	1	
2.	Bulletin Boards		
3.	Agency Shop	1	
3a.	Dues Check-Off	2	2
3b.	Service Fee Check-Off	4	<u> </u>
3c.	Cope Check-Off	4	+
4.	Management Rights & Responsibilities		
5.	Union Representation		
6.	Grievance Procedure	8	,)
7.	Disciplinary Procedures	10)
8.	Wages	11	
9.	Work Week - Off Days	12	
10.	Work Schedules	13	
11.	Selection of Work	13	
12.	Assignment of Open Runs - Off Duty Provisions	15	
13.	Transfers - Extra Positions	16	
14.	Runs - Definitions - Provisions	17	
15.	Workers' Compensation	18	
16.	Non-Platform Assignments	19	
17.	Overtime	20	
18.	Extra Work - Regular Operators	21	
19.	Spread Premium.	21	
20.	Report and Turn-In Time		
21.	Owl Runs	21	
22.	Late Time		
23.	Relief Time		
24.	Trippers		
25.	Instruction Rate		
26.	Operators Returned to Training		
27.	Court - Claims - Accident Reports	23	
28.	Change Off of Equipment		
29.	Paid Intervening Time in Swing Runs	24	
30.	Running Time	24	
31.	Rest Periods	24	
32.	Canceled Work Substitution		
33.	Extra Operators		
34.	Missing Assignments	27	
35.	Funeral Leave (With Pay)	28	
36.	Vacations		
37.	Holidays	30	
38.	Hospitalization, Medical Insurance and Optical Care	31	

2005-200 MASTER AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF DETROIT AND DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AR	TICLE	PAGE NO
39.	Employees Serving on Jury Duty	34
40.	Longevity Pay	
41.	Miscellaneous Benefits	
42.	Uniforms	
43.	Reduction in Force	39
44.	Sick Leave, Casual Leave, Sickness and Accident and Extended Disability Insurance	e43
45.	Retirement Benefits	47
46.	Death Benefits and Life Insurance	50
47.	Rights of Employees Entering or Returning From Armed Forces	53
48.	Leaves of Absence	53
49.	Successor Clause	54
50.	Overtime Provisions of the State Minimum Wage Law	54
51.	Savings Clause	54
52.	Interference With Work	
53.	Nondiscrimination	
54.	Protection Clause	55
55.	Maintenance of Conditions	55
56.	Accident Review Board	
57.	Duration of the Contract	56
MEI	SIGNATURE PAGE WORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDINGS	57
Re:	Compensation for Unused Casual Leave	58
Re:	Overtime	59
Re:	Union Input into Scheduling	60
Re:	Vacation Allocations	61
Re:	Determination of A Suitable Retirement Memento	
Re:	Copies of the Contract	
Re:	Special Rules Regarding Sickness and Accident Benefits	64
	Operators Repeatedly Required To Work Foreign Lines	
Re:	Supplement Section 38 of This Agreement.	67
Re:	Benefit Deductions for Employees on S & A - LTD	68
Re:	Improved Regularity in Attendance	69
Re:	Temporary Placement of Employees into Other Duties	70
Re:	City of Detroit FMLA Policy	71
Re:	Union Representation During Temporary Shutdowns of Terminals for Repair Work.	
Re:	Police Reports	73
Re:	Wage Concessions	74
Re:	City Alternative Health Care Plan	76
Anne	endix A	01
չորբ Հորբ	endix B	18
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		ōŏ

1. AGREEMENT AND RECOGNITION

This Agreement is entered into between the City of Detroit, a Michigan Municipal Corporation, hereinafter referred to as the EMPLOYER or the CITY, and Division 26, Amalgamated Transit Union, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the UNION.

Pursuant to and in accordance with all applicable provisions of Act 336 of the Public Acts of 1947, as amended, the Employer does hereby recognize the Union as the sole and exclusive representative for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to rates of pay, hours of employment, and other terms and conditions of employment for the term of this Agreement, of all employees of the City of Detroit Department of Transportation in the classification of Transportation Equipment Operator (72-20-38).

2. BULLETIN BOARDS

- A. The Union shall have the exclusive right to the use of designated Union bulletin boards and "Swap" boards in the terminals for publishing notices pertaining to the conduct of its affairs.
- B. The Employer will determine where in each terminal lobby such bulletin boards will be located.

3. AGENCY SHOP

- A. Employees not members of the Union who desire membership in the recognized bargaining unit shall confirm their desire to join for the duration of this Agreement by initiating their Union application form and dues deduction authorization forms.
- B. Any person certified and employed with the City on/or after October 11, 1947, and covered by this Agreement, who is not a member of aforesaid Union and does not make application for membership within ninety (90) days from the effective date of this Agreement or from the date of employment, whichever is later, shall, as a condition of employment, pay to the Union each month a service fee as a contribution towards the administration of this Agreement. Such service fee shall be paid on/or after their ninety-first (91st) day of employment or ninety (90) days after the effective date of this Agreement, whichever is later.

Employees who fail to comply with this requirement shall be discharged by the Employer within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice to the Employer from the Union, unless the City is otherwise notified by the Union, in writing, within said thirty (30) days, and provided, that the Union shall release the employing department from fulfilling the obligation to discharge if during the thirty (30) day period following notice to the Employer from the Union, the employee pays the membership dues or service fees retroactive to the due date and confirms their intention to pay the required membership dues or service fees in accordance with this Agreement.

C. Provisional employees will not be used to replace or in lieu of Civil Service status employees in classifications in the recognized bargaining units, unless it is impossible to hire Civil Service status employees either from within or from outside the City service.

- D. All deductions under this Article shall be subject to revocation by the employee who executed such assignments, upon giving a written notice to assignees and the Finance Director within the thirty (30) day period immediately prior to the expiration date of this Agreement. The Finance Director and the City Treasurer shall thereafter cease withholding any money whatever under such assignments.
- E. Assignees shall have no right or interest whatsoever in any money authorized withheld until such money is actually paid over to them. The City or any of the officers and employees shall not be liable for any delay in carrying out such deductions, and upon forwarding a check in payment of such deductions by mail to the assignees' last known address, the City and its officers and employees shall be released from all liability to the employee-assignors and to the assignees under such assignments (Chapter 13, Article 4, Section 4 of the Municipal Code of the City of Detroit).
- F. The Union agrees that, in the event of litigation against the City, its agents or employees arising out of this provision, it will co-defend and indemnify and hold harmless the City, its agents or employees from any monetary award arising out of such litigation.
- G. If any provision of this Section is invalid under Federal law or the laws of the State of Michigan, said provision shall be modified to comply with the requirements of Federal or State law or shall be renegotiated for the purpose of adequate replacement.

3a. DUES CHECK-OFF

- A. The Employer agrees to deduct from the wages of any employee, who is a member of this Union, all Union membership dues and initiation fees uniformly required, if any, as provided in a written authorization in accordance with the standard form used by the Employer herein (see Paragraph D), provided, that the said form shall be executed by the employee. The written authorization for Union dues deduction shall remain in full force and effect during the period of this contract and may be revoked only by written notice given during the period thirty (30) days immediately prior to expiration of this contract. The termination notice must be given both to the Employer and to the Union.
- B. Dues and initiation fees will be authorized, levied and certified in accordance with the Constitution and by-laws of the local union. Each employee and the Union hereby authorize the City to rely upon and to honor certifications by the Secretary-Treasurer of the local union, regarding the amounts to be deducted and the legality of the adopting action specifying such amounts of Union dues and/or initiation fees.
- C. The Employer agrees to provide this service without charge to the Union.

D. Dues Deduction Check-Off Card.

DEDUCTION/REVOCATION AUTHORITY Union/Association Dues or Service Fee					
Last Name (Please Print)	First	MI	Department	Employee So	cial Security Number
Street Number	Street Name		City		Zip Code
PART I - REVOCATI	ON AUTHORITY (Union/Associati	on Dues or Servi	ice Fee (if applicable)	
Within thirty (30) days of a deduction authority for pay			vice Fees to	he Finance Director to	
Date	Еп	ıployee Signatuı	re		Pension Number
To be Completed by Departure 1700 CANCEL (A)		ncy	Labor Relations Of	For Official Use Onl	Date
Effective this date, I hereb provide for the regular pay Name of Union or	y request and authorize	the City of Detr	roit to deduct from may be fixed and	n my earnings bi-week	
Unic I hereby waive all right at revocable by the employed Association for which this and to the Union or Associ	ee under certain circur deduction authority has	s paid in accord nstances as pro	ance with this au	llective bargaining ag	reement for the Union/
Date	Еп	ıployee Signatur	е		Pension Number
To be Completed by Depar	rtment Personnel				
□ 710 ADD □ 720 CHANGE □ 730 ADJUST	(A) Deduction		eduction Amount or Percentuge	(C)Deduction Adjustment Amount	Agency

Original - Finance (Payroll Audit)

Pink copy - Labor Organization

Yellow copy - Employee

Forward Original and Pink copy to the Labor Relations Office for approval

Combination of PPS Forms 7101 and 7002

3b. SERVICE FEE CHECK-OFF

- A. The Employer agrees to deduct from the wages of any employee who is not a member of the Union, all Union service fees as provided in a written authorization in accordance with the standard form used by the Employer herein (see Paragraph D), provided, that the said form shall be executed by the employee. The written authorization for service fee deduction shall remain in full force and effect during the period of this contract and may be revoked only by written notice given during the period of thirty (30) days immediately prior to expiration of this contract. The termination notice must be given both to the Employer and to the Union.
- B. Each employee and the Union hereby authorize the City to rely upon and honor certifications by the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union regarding the amounts to be deducted and the legality of the adopting action specifying such amounts of Service Fee deductions.
- C. The Employer agrees to provide this service without charge to the Union.
- D. Service Fee Check-Off Card. (See Dues Revocation Form)

3c. COPE CHECK-OFF

- A. The Employer agrees to deduct from the wages of any employee who is a member of the Union, Committee on Political Education (COPE) funds, which are voluntarily solicited, as provided in a written authorization in accordance with the standard form used by the Employer herein (see Paragraph E), provided, that the said form shall be executed by the employee. The written authorization for COPE fund deductions shall remain in full force and effect during the period of this contract unless revoked at an earlier date by written notice executed by the employee. The employee must provide a copy of his or her termination notice to both the appropriate representative of the Employer and the Union.
- B. Each employee and the Union hereby authorize the City to rely upon and honor certifications by the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union regarding the COPE fund amounts to be deducted and the legality of the adopting action specifying such amounts of COPE fund deductions.
- C. Article 3 ("Agency Shop"), paragraphs E, F and G shall also apply to this Article 3C.
- D. The City agrees to provide this service under exactly the same arrangements as were being followed at the time this contract was entered into, except that if there is a change in the conditions on which this practice rest, the City shall meet with the Union to discuss the reasons for making any changes prior to those changes going into effect.

E. COPE Check-Off Card.

LAST HAME FIRST	MI AGENCY	PPS 711	GENERAL	DEDUCTION
O 710 CHANGE	730 ADJUST	TO THE	FINANCE DIREC	TOR:
, , , , , , , [R]		I HEREB	Y AUTHORIZE T	HE CITY
EMPLOYEE SCCIAL SECURITY NUMBER		OF DETF	ROIT TO DEDUC	T TH∈ SUM
A 1 1 1 1 R DEDUCTION CODE (YR. PAY PERIOD STOP DATE	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	INDICATI	ED HEREIN FRO	M MY
		EARNING	GS BI-WEEKLY	- Y
DEDUCTION AMOUNT OR DEDUCTION PERCENT		REMITTE	D TO	
C	FRINGE ADJUSTMENT	DATE	EMPLOYEE	SIGNATURE

4. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS & RESPONSIBILITIES

- A. The Union recognizes the prerogatives of the City and the Department of Transportation to operate and manage its affairs in all respects in accordance with its responsibilities and powers of authority inclusive of all rules and regulations contained within the City Charter, State Law, Federal Laws and traditional inherent powers consistent with providing quality transportation services for the good of the public interest.
- B. The department has the right to schedule overtime work as required, to determine hours and schedules of work in a manner most advantageous to the department and consistent with the requirements of providing transportation service and the public interest. Such overtime shall not be scheduled so as to cause the layoffs of any members of the bargaining unit.
- C. The department reserves the right to discipline and discharge for just cause. The department reserves the right to layoff for lack of work or funds or the occurrence of conditions beyond the control of the department or where such continuation of work would be wasteful and unproductive. The department shall have the right to establish the methods and processes by which such work is performed provided they do not conflict with the express terms of this Agreement.
- D. The Union shall have the right to grieve on the interpretation and application of these provisions.

5. UNION REPRESENTATION

- A. The Union President shall be compensated forty (40) hours per week to administer this Agreement.
- B. The Union Vice President shall be compensated forty (40) hours per week to assist the president in administering this agreement.
- C. Certified executive board members of the Union, not to exceed (1) for each terminal, will each be allowed a maximum of twenty (20) hours of pay per week to fully compensate them for time consumed in settlement of grievances, assisting terminal picks of runs and off days, attending department safety meetings, attending meetings with representatives of the department, whether same be called by Employer or the Union, assisting in the United Foundation Torch Drive, and other such community-wide drives, and for engaging in any activities bearing upon labor relations with the Department of Transportation.
- D. In the three (3) terminals, a steward, in addition to the executive board member, may be allowed a maximum of ten (10) hours pay per week to compensate for time consumed assisting the executive board member. A steward may represent employees in handling labor relations activities with the Transportation District Superintendent. The Union Vice President may be allowed a maximum of ten (10) hours pay per week to compensate them for time consumed in assisting in the settlement of grievances, attending department safety meetings, attending meetings with representatives of the department, whether same be called by the Employer or the Union, assisting in the United Foundation Torch Drive, and other such community-wide drives, and for engaging in any activities bearing upon department community employee relations.
- E. The payment of the weekly allowance shall be reduced on a prorated basis for any one (1) week period when the said Union representatives perform less than five (5) days work except when enjoying a partial vacation. The stewards and vice president will not be replaced when on vacation or absent for other reasons, or when replacing the executive board member and/or the president and business agent.
- F. If, in the judgement of the Union, an operator's Union duties require their absence from work, the Union will request that such operator be excused on Union business. Such operator will be excused on union business, without pay, provided such operator's absence, in the opinion of the Employer, is not detrimental to the public service. Upon return to work such operator will be returned to their position on the board without loss of seniority. Such time off will be considered as paid time.
- G. It shall not be a violation of this Agreement and it shall not be cause for discharge or disciplinary action if any employee refuses to enter upon any property involved in a primary labor dispute, or refuses to go through or work behind any primary picket line, including the primary picket line of the Union party to this Agreement, except that the department shall not be required to pay the wages of employees who shall refuse to report for work. Provided, however, that such refusal shall in no way be detrimental to the public health or safety. However, the employee cannot be ordered to cross a picket line if such action could result in

adverse effect of the personal safety of the employee, nor shall employees be required to do work normally done by striking members of other Unions.

- H. The district superintendent shall notify the terminal executive board member in the following instances:
 - 1. Operators' suspensions,
 - 2. Operators cited to the Board of Review.
 - 3. Operators' off-day adjustments.
- I. **Employee Assistance Committee**: The Employer and the Union recognize that personal problems of employees may adversely affect their on-the-job performance and that it is therefore, in the best interest of the Employer and the Union to assist employees with their personal problems to the extent feasible and to the extent that it does not adversely affect the provision of public service. This committee shall have the responsibility for developing employee assistance programs. The Vice President, Executive Board Member and Steward from each terminal shall be members of the Employee Assistance Committee. The Union may also appoint three (3) additional members who must be acceptable to the Employee Assistance Committee. Members of the Employee Assistance Committee shall be excused from work without loss of time or pay to attend the meetings.
- J. **Safety Committee**: An operator who has complaints or concerns about matters regarding safety has an initial responsibility to report those complaints or concerns to their supervisor.

Each terminal shall have a Safety Committee consisting of the Board Member, Steward, Union Safety Representative (or alternate), District Superintendent (or representative) and the Auto Repair Superintendent (or representative). The Safety Committee at each terminal shall meet on a monthly basis to discuss and resolve health and safety concerns. The Departmental Safety Representative may participate in these monthly terminal meetings. Members of the Terminal Safety Committee will be excused from work without loss of time to participate in monthly terminal safety meetings. The Union Safety Representative or alternate will be excused from work without loss of time to attend Departmental Safety meetings.

The Safety Committee at each terminal shall participate in monthly safety inspections which involve checking the interior and exterior of coaches for safety features and checking the terminals and garages for safety violations. The date of the terminal safety inspections will be determined by the Departmental Safety Representative. Members of the Terminal Safety Committee will be excused from work without loss of time to participate in monthly inspections.

K. Union Election of Officers: The Employer agrees to allow sufficient operators off work (without pay) to operate the polling places. That shall be three (3) operators for each terminal, three (3) for the Union hall plus two (2) election commissioners. It is also agreed that candidates for election and workers for such candidates will be allowed to trade work with other operators and adjust off days in order to be off for the election. The department will assist candidates and workers for candidates by attempting to get other operators to take their runs on an overtime basis, provided their identity is given to the District Superintendent three (3) weeks prior to the election.

6. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- A. Should disputes arise between the Employer and the Union during the term of this Agreement, an earnest effort shall be made to resolve such disputes promptly and in accordance with the following procedure. The grievance procedures contained in this Agreement shall be the exclusive grievance procedure for members of this bargaining unit. This shall not preclude an employee from exercising any rights they may have under the provisions of the Veteran's Preference Act.
- B. Complaints which do not involve misapplication or misinterpretation of specific provisions of this Agreement shall not be proper subjects for arbitration.
- C. Any employee who has a grievance or a complaint shall grieve in the following manner and the following successive steps must be followed unless it is mutually agreed, in writing, between the Employer and the Union to alter this procedure.
- D. Grievances must be presented within fourteen (14) calendar days of their origin and to retain validity, they must be appealed within seven (7) days of notice of an unsatisfactory decision at each step of the grievance procedure. Any grievance which is not answered by the department within the prescribed time limits, may be appealed to the next step of the grievance procedure within seven (7) days of the expiration of those time limits. The written appeal shall indicate that the grievance was not answered timely at the previous step of the grievance procedure.

E. STEPS IN FILING:

- 1. The operator and their Union representative shall discuss the grievance with the District Superintendent or their designated representative. An earnest effort shall be made to resolve the matter at that level. The operator and the Union representative may examine the operator's record in the presence of the superintendent. If the grievance is not resolved, the Union representative shall present the grievance to the District Superintendent in writing, on the standard grievance forms and forward copies of the grievance to the Superintendent of Transportation Operations. The District Superintendent or their designated representative shall give a written reply to the grievance within three (3) days of its receipt. If the District Superintendent's written reply does not satisfactorily settle the grievance, then:
- 2. The Union President-Business Agent or their designated representative will present the grievance to the Superintendent of Transportation Operations or their designated representative who will reply, in writing, within five (5) days of their receipt of the written grievance. If the written reply of the Superintendent of Transportation Operations or their designated representative does not satisfactorily settle the grievance, then;
- 3. The Union President-Business Agent or their designated representative will present the written appeal to the Director of Transportation or designated representative who will reply, in writing, within seven (7) days of their receipt of the written appeal. If the written reply of the Director of Transportation or their designated representative does not satisfactorily resolve the grievance, then;

4. The Union President-Business Agent, or their designated representative will appeal the grievance, in writing, to the City of Detroit, Director of Labor Relations who will schedule a hearing on the grievance within fifteen (15) days of its receipt. The Director of Labor Relations or their designated representative will give a written reply to the grievance within ten (10) days of the hearing.

F. ARBITRATION:

Any unresolved grievance which relates to the interpretation, application or enforcement of any specific article or section of this Agreement or any written supplementary agreement and which has been fully processed through Step 4 of the grievance procedure may be submitted to arbitration in strict accordance with the following:

- 1. Arbitration shall be invoked by written notice to the other party of intention to arbitrate within ten (10) days of the notice of an unsatisfactory decision at Step 4 of the grievance procedure. If the parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator within seven (7) days of such notice, the party desiring arbitration, shall refer the matter to the American Arbitration Association for the selection of an impartial arbitrator and determination of the dispute in accordance with all applicable rules of the American Arbitration Association.
- The arbitrator shall limit their decision strictly to the interpretation, application or enforcement of this Agreement and they shall be without power and authority to make any decision:
 - Contrary to, or inconsistent with or modifying or varying in any way, the terms of this Agreement.
 - b. Concerning the discipline or discharge of employees for engaging in a strike, slowdown or stoppage of work who exercises their right under Section 6 of Act 336 as amended by Act 379 of the Public Acts of 1965 or to the Mayor pursuant to provisions of the Detroit City Charter, or applicable State law.
 - Granting any wage increases or decreases.
 - d. Granting any right or relief for any period of time whatsoever prior to the execution date of this Agreement.
- 3. The arbitrator shall be without authority to require the City to delegate, alienate or relinquish any powers, duties, responsibilities, obligations or discretions which by State law or City Charter the department cannot delegate, alienate or relinquish.
- 4. No settlement at any stage of the grievance procedure, except an arbitration decision, shall be a precedent in any arbitration and shall not be admissible in evidence in any future arbitration proceeding.
- 5. All claims for back wages shall be limited to the amount of wages that the employee otherwise would have earned less any compensation received for temporary employment obtained subsequent to their removal from the City payroll, and payments for Unemployment Compensation Insurance, Social Security Disability, Welfare, Aid to

Dependent Children, City funded Long Term Disability Insurance, Sickness and Accident Insurance and Automobile Accident Income Replacement Insurance. Where appropriate, the City shall reimburse those agencies and insurance funds so as to not affect the employee's equity therein.

- 6. The decision of the arbitrator in a case shall not require a retroactive wage adjustment in another case except by express agreement of the parties.
- 7. There shall be no appeal from the arbitrator's decision, if made in accordance with their jurisdiction and authority under this Agreement. The arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding on the department, on the employee or employees and on the Union.
- 8. In the event a case is appealed to an arbitrator and they find that they have no power to rule on such case, the matter shall be referred back to the parties without decision or recommendation on the merits of the case.
- 9a. The expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the parties. The aggrieved and their local representative shall not lose pay for time off the job while attending the arbitration proceedings.
- 9b. Arbitration hearings will be conducted at the City of Detroit Labor Relations Division unless the circumstances of the grievance indicate it should more appropriately be held where the grievance originated.
- 10. Except as provided herein by letter or agreement between the parties, the parties understand and agree that in making this contract they have resolved for its term all bargaining issues which were or which could have been made the subject of discussion. The arbitral forum here established is intended to resolve disputes between the parties only over the interpretation or application of the matters which are specifically covered in this contract and any supplemental agreements which are or may become part of this Agreement and which are not excluded from arbitration.

7. DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES

- A. Notification shall be given to the Union of any disciplinary action taken against any employee which may result in any official entries being added to the employee's personnel file. Both employee and the Union representative shall normally be given a copy of such official entry prior to the effective date of the disciplinary action, except when the employee is unavailable as a result of not having reported for scheduled work. In that event, the employee will be notified by certified mail at their last known address. A further exception to the requirement for prior notification shall be for penalties given immediate effect.
- B. Penalties for infractions of the rules will be made effective no sooner than the seventy-two (72) hours excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays after same are determined, unless the seventy-two (72) hours is waived, in writing, by the employee against whom the penalty was levied. A penalty which involved a suspension or dismissal may be appealed to the Director

of Transportation or their designated representative. When such penalty is appealed within the seventy-two (72) hour period, no penalty will be imposed until after the Director of Transportation or their designated representative shall have responded in writing to the appeal. The exception to this provision shall be that penalties shall be given immediate effect for accidents causing serious personal injury or property damage, willful insubordination, intoxication while on duty, apprehension by legal authorities, mishandling fares, possession of firearms, loss of chauffeurs license and other comparable serious offenses. A further exception shall be that the seventy-two (72) hour delay shall not apply to decisions to suspend or dismiss made by the Board of Review.

- C. Suspensions shall not be scheduled so as to disqualify an operator for holiday pay except in those instances where a penalty is given immediate effect.
- D. Any operator who is charged with an infraction which could result in their dismissal shall be cited to the Board of Review which will review the matter and make a decision on the appropriate disciplinary action, if any. Decisions by the Board of Review may be appealed to the Director of Transportation or their designated representative at the third step of the Grievance Procedure. Such appeal must be made within seven (7) days of the Board of Review decision.
- E. In imposing discipline on a current charge, management will not take into account any prior infractions or disciplinary action taken which occurred more than twelve (12) months previously.
- F. If the discharge or suspension of an operator is found to be unwarranted, they will be returned to their regular position and they will be compensated for their wage loss.

8. WAGES

A. Improvement Factor:

Effective July 1, 2005	0%	
Effective July 1, 2006	0%	
Effective July 1, 2007	0%	See MOU RE: Wage Concessions
Effective June 30, 2008 11:59 p.m.	4%	No retroactive amounts shall be
		attributable to any period between
		July 1, 2005 and June 30, 2008.

- B. A daily record of the time paid operators will be posted in each terminal lobby.
- C. Wage rate changes will become effective as of the pay period immediately following completion of operator's service periods.

D. Progression Rate Schedule:

1. Operators hired prior to April 29, 2000, will be paid according to the following progression rate schedule upon successful completion of training:

Months of	% of Maximum		
Employment	Hourly Rate		
0 - 6	70%		
7 - 12	75%		
13 - 18	80%		
19 - 24	85%		
25 - 30	90%		
31 +	100%		

2. Operators hired on or after April 29, 2000, will be paid according to the following progression rate schedule upon successful completion of training:

Months of	% of Maximum		
<u>Employment</u>	Hourly Rate		
0 - 9	70%		
10 - 18	75%		
19 - 28	80%		
29 - 37	85%		
38 - 47	90%		
48 +	100%		

The hourly rate step increment schedule is as follows:

% of Max.	Rate Effective July 1, 2005 through June 30, 2008		
Hourly Rate			
70%	\$11.65		
75%	\$12.48		
80%	\$13.32		
85%	\$14.15		
90%	\$14.98		
100%	\$16.64		

The anniversary date for step adjustments shall be on the first pay period of the month succeeding the date a TEO receives their badge.

9. WORK WEEK - OFF DAYS

A. All operators, with the exclusion of non-platform operators, shall select a five (5) day work week. The two (2) remaining days in the work week shall be known as "off days". Non-platform operators, including loaders, shall select a trick that includes "off days".

- B. Off days shall be selected when terminal picks are held, provided off day picks for extra men shall be held whenever necessary.
- C. The employer shall determine the number of operators to be off on each day of the week. Operators will then be permitted to select, in seniority order, the available off days.
- D. The work week of all operators shall begin on Saturday and end on Friday.
- E. New operators will be assigned their off days according to seniority.

10. WORK SCHEDULES

- A. Any schedule change will not be finalized by management without consideration of input from the Union. A joint union/management committee meeting will be held to receive the Union input, thirty (30) days prior to schedule change finalization. The Union shall be represented in that meeting by the President and one representative from each of the three (3) terminals.
- B. All schedules involved in terminal picks or City-wide picks, except in emergencies, shall be posted at least ten (10) days before the picking of runs and work assignments begins.
- C. Operators may select all work within their classification if it is part of regular scheduled runs. This includes specials, loading and starting, but no such work shall be selected if it is required for operators who have furnished suitable proof of their incapacity to perform their regular assignments.
- D. When working as loaders or starters, such incapacitated operators shall receive a minimum of eight (8) hours pay and they shall receive spread premium. They will receive report and turnin time only when platform work is performed.

11. SELECTION OF WORK

- A. Operators shall, in the order of their seniority, select their runs from posted schedules. Notice of their selection may be made through another person so delegated. If the operator or their designee does not pick at their scheduled time, the Terminal Board Member may pick for them. If the Terminal Board Member fails to pick for the operator, the Station Master shall assign the operator the first open run off in the terminal.
- B. When notice of progressive, line, or terminal picks are posted and picking starts, and the operator is notified of their time to pick, they must pick at that time. If they fail to do so in a line pick, they will be assigned the first open run off on the line, and in progressive or terminal picks, they will be assigned the first open run off in the terminal. Operators off on vacation or sick leave must leave their selections with the Station Master. If an operator makes no selection, and the terminal board member does not pick for them, they will be assigned the first run off in the terminal. Operators shall be notified no less than twelve (12) hours in advance of the date and time they are to pick.

- C. If an operator ordinarily selects night runs and the schedule is to be operated on line standing, they will be marked up for any available night run if they request it before 12:01 A.M. of the preceding day. Owl Run operators will be marked up with Owl Runs as comparable to their regular Owl Runs as is possible. Other operators will move up accordingly.
- D. Selected runs shall be held while the schedule is operated; provided that if four (4) months elapse, the schedule shall be posted for re-selection. City-wide picks will go into effect in January, June and September. A terminal pick will be held in April.
- E. If a service reduction forces an operator onto the extra board while runs are held by others with less seniority on other lines, they and those below them will re-select within seven (7) days after said reduction, and they will in the interim, enjoy full seniority on the extra board.
- F. Line Picks will be held on Fridays when it will not result in added cost or decreased efficiency. If they are not held on Friday, board standing will be operated no more than two (2) days.
- G. The manner of selecting runs and the time required for terminal or line picks shall be determined by the employer.
 - 1. In connection with City-wide picks, the approximate manpower requirements at each terminal including the number of operators to be allowed off on week days and Saturday and Sunday will be posted one (1) week prior to the closing date of transfers.
 - 2. The date for closing of operator transfer shall be the Friday before the Monday on which the picking of runs begin.
- H. The operation of the Downtown Trolley shall be classified as special service. Trolley Operators must be from the Gilbert Terminal.
 - 1. Trolley Operators will be selected by Management from an eligibility list established by a posting to Transportation Equipment Operator employees only.
 - 2. Seniority for the purpose of picking schedules, days off and vacations shall be established on the date an operator becomes certified for the Trolley Board, for Trolley Operators who hold Monday through Friday runs on the Trolley Board.
 - 3. All work shall be selected on the basis of seniority established on the Trolley Board, for operators who hold Monday through Friday runs on the Trolley Board.
 - 4. Operators on the Trolley Board who voluntarily pick off the board shall lose their Trolley Board seniority.
 - 5. Operators who have been certified as Trolley Operators, but who do not hold Monday through Friday runs on the Trolley Board, will pick runs, off days and vacations at the Gilbert Terminal according to their seniority on the TEO Board at that terminal.

- 6. The most senior operator on the Trolley Board, according to Trolley Board seniority, will be in charge of daily operations and authorized to make adjustments in response to daily situations which may arise.
- 7. When an open run on the Trolley Board is to be filled, the Transportation Terminal Supervisor will call the relief Trolley Operators, in Trolley Board seniority order, for volunteers. The least senior Trolley Operator will be assigned if no one volunteers.
- 8. Trolley Operators will be required to drive a coach for one week within every three months.
- I. Operators who are not actively driving as a result of being on Leave of Absence, on Long Term Disability, assigned to another classification on an out-of-class basis or any reason which causes an absence in excess of thirty (30) days shall be removed from the T.E.O. Board until they return to active driving for the purposes of picking runs, lines, off days and vacations. Such operators will return on the Extra Board if a pick has occurred during their absence and shall remain on the Extra Board until the next pick.

When an operator has been off thirty (30) days or more for any reason when a pick is in process, that operator is picked on the extra board and must remain on the extra board for the duration of the pick, and must be assigned to the original terminal.

- J. Operators who are assigned on an out-of-class basis to other classifications will not be allowed to operate coaches in service.
- K. If an operator has been off thirty (30) days and a drug test is required on their return to work they shall have the right to pick, unless the return is from an FTA violation. Operators returning to work after thirty (30) or more days off, are considered back to work for the purpose of picking work, if returned before their scheduled pick time and must be assigned to the last terminal the operator picked at.

12. ASSIGNMENT OF OPEN RUNS OFF DUTY PROVISIONS

- A. When the first run of the day is completed, the markup sheet shall have been posted for the following day.
- B. When regular operators are excused from work before the board is marked up, the first of their then open runs off will be marked up to the first extra man, the second off to the second extra and so forth, until all open runs are assigned. The remaining extra operators will be moved up in order.
- C. When operators are excused after having worked part of a day, they shall not be required to lose the day following.

- D. A run open seven (7) days or more due to extended leave of absence, prolonged illness or assignment to non-platform work or separation will be subject to re-selection by a line pick.
- E. A run which will be open at least seven (7) days due to a vacation leave or short term illness will be considered an open run for the purpose of selection by extra men.
- F. Open runs, as defined in paragraph E, shall be subject to selection by extra men, in seniority order, for seven (7) day periods, subject to the following conditions:
 - 1. The option of picking open runs will be limited to the first seventy (70) extra men in the terminal except during summer school close period when the first ninety (90) men in each terminal will be permitted to pick.
 - 2. The remaining extra men in the terminal, including those who do not exercise their option of picking, shall be marked up on a daily basis in the regular manner.
 - 3. Open runs will be posted in the terminal for selection by 4:00 P.M. Monday for operation on the following Monday.
 - 4. Open runs will be subject to pick from 4:00 P.M. Monday to Midnight Tuesday only.
 - 5. An open run so picked will be assigned to and held by the extra man for the ensuing seven (7) day period, or until the run holder returns to work, if same occurs sooner.
 - 6. The practice of picking open runs by extra men and the number of extra men permitted to pick will be subject to adjustment at the terminal level at the discretion of the Employer.
 - 7. The provisions of this paragraph F, shall not apply as to those weeks in which school schedules are operated for a portion of the week only.

13. TRANSFERS - EXTRA POSITIONS

- A. The employer shall determine the number of operators required at each terminal and shall have the right to lay off according to seniority.
- B. Operators may be transferred to a terminal or terminals provided a City-wide pick as to terminals is allowed for those affected.
- C. Operators transferred under the conditions of subsection B shall be required to ride lines at the terminal to which they are transferred for eight (8) hours per day for a period of two (2) days and familiarize themselves with those lines, provided the operators have never worked at the terminal to which they are transferred. Such operators will be paid for such time at the appropriate rate.
- D. Though all runs must be selected, regular operators may pick extra men's work, in which case they shall receive no advantages over extra men, and shall assume a position on the extra board according to seniority, and shall not select a numbered extra board position.

- E. If extra men who hold runs because of others picking the extra board are laid off or transferred, their runs shall be marked up to extra men until the next terminal pick.
- F. When an Operator is on retrain, they shall be compensated for their run or the retrain run, whichever is more beneficial for the Operator.

14. RUNS - DEFINITIONS - PROVISIONS

- A. Scheduled weekday runs consisting of six (6) or more work hours will be considered as regular runs, and will be paid a minimum of eight (8) hours.
- B. Runs shall be straight where reasonably possible, and shall consist of approximately eight (8) hours. The time of their commencement and completion shall be posted on the schedules.
 - All runs pulling in after 9:00 P.M. will be straight.
 - Sunday and holiday schedules shall consist of all straight runs.
- C. The scheduled running time will be allowed from the pull-in point to the terminal, unless operating in express service or over expressways, and passengers shall be picked up same as in regular service.
- D. Runs already selected may be revised and rescheduled. If thirty (30) minutes or more is added to the run, the operator with greater seniority in the line affected, may request a re-pick, progressive or otherwise, within forty-eight (48) hours. Operators absent because of vacation or illness may request a re-pick within forty-eight (48) hours upon return to work. If the revised run is decreased ten (10) or more minutes, a re-pick will be permitted.
 - In the absence of a demand for a re-pick, the run will be compensated as rescheduled from the date of the change. If a re-pick is demanded and required under these provisions, the run holder shall be compensated for their runs as originally scheduled or as revised, whichever is greater, until the board is worked line standing.
- E. When an operator picks a line and later a part of the line is changed and they are required to operate on a foreign line, they may request a terminal pick. A foreign line is any line other than the one that the operator picked.
- F. Underpayments or overpayments made in computing time in a run shall be retroactively corrected upon discovery, to the effective date of the last pick, even though the run has been selected and worked.
 - All other errors of underpayment or overpayment of wages or other fringe benefits shall be corrected and paid retroactively upon discovery. Such retroactive correction shall be limited to one year from the date of discovery.

In case of overpayment to the employee, where repayment is possible, the Employer shall be entitled to recover. Attempts will be made, however, to arrange partial payments to decrease

- hardships upon the employee. The Department shall notify an Operator in writing prior to making any overpayment recovery.
- G. When two or more operators are marked up in error for the same run, the operator with the greater seniority shall be given the run and the operator with the lesser seniority shall be given other work equivalent to the run for which they were marked up. The substitute work shall not require the operator to work beyond thirty (30) minutes of the scheduled time of the run marked up in error. Operators assigned substitute work as noted above shall be paid no less than the run marked up in error.
- H. Any outstanding money owed must be paid within thirty (30) days after the amount has been determined and verified by the Human Resources Department. If payment cannot be made within thirty (30) days a written explanation is to be given to the affected employee.

15. WORKERS' COMPENSATION

- A. An employee sustaining injury or occupational disease arising out of and in the course of City employment shall be entitled to benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act. For those employees with one or more years of seniority who have been approved for Workers' Compensation Benefits, the City agrees to continue hospitalization and life insurance benefits for a period of nine (9) months. Employees shall also be eligible for supplemental benefits in accordance with Section 44 of this Agreement.
- B. In the absence of Workers' Compensation Benefits, those employees who are victims of physical assault and battery as determined by the Department shall be paid one hundred percent (100%) of their daily wages for a period not to exceed the first five (5) regularly scheduled work days after the incident.
 - Any overpayment of Workers' Compensation shall be recovered in accordance with the provisions of Section 14F. Overpayment amounts shall be recovered through payroll deductions of up to twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) weekly. There shall be a one year limitation on retroactive recovery of overpayments of Workers' Compensation. If the employee separates from service, the entire unpaid balance shall be recoverable immediately.
- C. Consistent with the Workers' Compensation Act and current City practices:
 - 1. The City shall continue its program of returning workers who suffered job injuries back to active employment to perform work tasks which are compatible with their current physical capabilities. To the maximum extent possible, employees will be returned to
 - their former job classification in their former department, or if no such position is available, in another City department if they are presently able to perform the essential duties with or without reasonable accommodations.
 - 2. If the employee is presently able to perform some but not all of the essential duties, but there is competent medical documentation that he/she will be able to perform all such duties within ninety (90) days, he/she may be placed conditionally in an available

- position in the classification subject to review at the end of this period. Work tasks assigned will be those compatible with present work restrictions.
- 3. If the employee cannot presently be returned to his/her former job classification, he/she will be placed in an appropriate available position in another classification on a temporary basis until such time as the employee is able to return to he/her former job classification or acquires permanent status in the alternate classification by action of the Human Resources Department. The duration of the temporary status shall be in accordance with the Workers' Compensation Act. During the temporary period, efforts will be made to place the employee in available positions consistent with his/her training and experience and current physical capabilities.
- 4. While employed in the alternate job classification, whether temporary or permanent, the employee shall be represented by the local union having jurisdiction over employees in that classification and at the location. However, residual seniority rights to the employee's former classification shall remain with his/her former local or other union. An employee in an alternate classification on a permanent basis continues to have a right to return to his/her former job classification in his/her former department when physically able to do so.
- Employees returned to work under these provisions shall not be charged with absences for disciplinary purposes where there is medical documentation that such absences were caused and necessitated by the former job injury.
- 6. Employees will be eligible for wage increases granted to their alternate job classification.
- 7. Should a medical dispute arise between the employee's physician and the Employer's physician, a third physician will be mutually selected by the doctor's and the third doctor's opinion shall be final and binding on the City and Union.
- 8. The City will be responsible for notifying the Union when an employee in an alternate job classification, on a permanent or temporary basis, is physically and mentally able to return to his or her former job classification as a Transportation Equipment Operator.

16. NON-PLATFORM ASSIGNMENTS

- A. Operators temporarily engaging in non-platform work shall continue to receive their regular base wage rate for the time actually worked. Examples of non-platform work are: transferring equipment, receiving instructions, loading, giving instructions, traffic work, and for the purpose of this Section, plugging of one (1) hour or less.
- B. When operators are required to see the supervisor outside their scheduled and paid working hours, the operators will be paid for such time at the appropriate rate.

17. OVERTIME

- A. The overtime rate will be time and one-half and will be paid for work in excess of forty (40) hours per week (and in excess of a regular run subject to provisions of Section 21 hereof.)
- B. At no time shall there be a duplication or pyramiding of overtime premium and spread premium except for scheduled swing runs or when an operator on a scheduled swing run is required to work overtime by going to the end of the line when they are not relieved as scheduled, in accordance with the provisions of Section 18, b.
- C. The following items being paid allowances shall neither be compensated for at the overtime rate or used in computing overtime premium: spread premium, extra man's weekly minimum guarantee, tripper minimum guarantee.
- D. When an operator works on their off days, having worked all scheduled days in the Saturday through Friday work week and they have not been charged with a suspension, the following occurrences shall not deprive the operator of off-day premium:
 - 1. Appearance in court on behalf of the Employer.
 - 2. A miss occurring on a day on which a full run or its equivalent is worked.
 - 3. Being off with permission on a paid holiday.
 - 4. Being paid scheduled vacation or scheduled Casual Leave during the work week.
- E. Extra work will be distributed as follows:
 - 1. All known extra work to be operated will be posted daily when the Board is marked up.
 - 2. Operators will volunteer for the posted work.
 - 3. When more than one operator volunteers, the extra work will be awarded to the operator who worked the lesser amount of overtime in the previous work week.
 - 4. The list of extra work will be closed to volunteers at 8:00 P.M. It will be the responsibility of the operator to check with the terminal between 8:00 P.M. and 4:00 A.M. to determine if they have been awarded that extra work.
- F. Absences due to paid sick leave, unscheduled Casual Leave or other scheduled or unscheduled absence without pay on a scheduled work day will bar off-day premium until the operator has completed forty (40) hours of actual straight-time work during the work week.
- G. A suspension shall not be imposed so as to carry into two (2) or more employee work weeks unless of such length as to be unavoidable or at the request of the employee.
- H. During those weeks in which terminal or City-Wide picks are held, off-day premium will be paid only for work performed on the temporary off-days assigned for pick purposes.
- I. Operators reporting for extra work before 3:30 A.M. on their off days shall receive work according to seniority. Operators reporting for extra work after 3:30 A.M. shall receive work on a first come basis. An operator assigned to a run may move up ahead of an operator from a foreign terminal but not ahead of a day off operator or an operator who has completed their day's work at the terminal at which the extra work occurs.

18. EXTRA WORK - REGULAR OPERATORS

- A. Regular operators who are requested to report for extra work and who report will be paid a minimum of four (4) hours at the appropriate rate and may be required to remain on duty for the minimum four (4) hour period.
- B. When an operator is not relieved from duty as scheduled, they shall notify the dispatcher via their coach radio or the Terminal Supervisor via the nearest convenient public telephone en route to the scheduled destination of their line. Such operator must continue en route, in service, to the end of the line, unless specifically authorized by the dispatcher or Terminal Supervisor to pull in before going to the end of the line. The operator may then pull in from the end of the line, but may not be required to operate in service on pull in.

19. SPREAD PREMIUM

Spread premium of half the base rate will be allowed in addition to any overtime premium on scheduled swing runs. If more than ten (10) hours, including report and turn-in time, are scheduled to elapse in such a run from the first required report to the time of completion, the operator working and completing it will receive the premium for the scheduled period beyond ten (10) hours. An operator will not be entitled to spread premium for work beyond their scheduled swing run except as provided in Section 17B.

20. REPORT AND TURN-IN TIME

- A. Operators shall report to their terminals twenty (20) minutes before their runs are scheduled to leave.
- B. On each day they perform platform work, operators will be paid twenty-five (25) minutes for reporting, preparing for work, moving vehicles in and out of the terminals and turning in.
- C. Twenty-five (25) minutes will be considered as time worked and shall be used in the computation of all overtime.

21. OWL RUNS

- A. An owl run is a night run scheduled to finish after 3:30 A.M.
- B. The owl rate will be 104% of an operator's basic wage rate. This rate will be paid for working a complete scheduled owl run and any late time on the same.
- C. The said owl rate will also be paid for a portion of an owl run if operated through 3:30 A.M., and either started or finished as scheduled.

- D. Owl runs shall be started as early as practicable; the owl operator's wages to start no later than midnight.
- E. For the purpose of computing earnings, extra work begun before 10:00 A.M. following completion of an owl run will be regarded as work of the previous day.

22. LATE TIME

Operators will be paid for delays in runs or swings thereof provided that on the day the delay occurs the operator shall submit a late slip (which is detachable from the trip sheet) for same and explain the reason for the delay. The late slip must also be submitted to be eligible for payment of the late time.

23. RELIEF TIME

When an operator is required to relieve or to be relieved on the road, the operator will be paid the running time from the relief point to the terminal, in addition to any platform time worked. Such time will be considered as time worked.

24. TRIPPERS

- A. Trippers are runs of less than six (6) hours duration.
- B. A minimum guarantee of two (2) hours pay at the straight time rate including report and turnin time, but excluding overtime premium, will apply to any tripper or extra other than Charter Service Orders or Revenue Specials in those instances where an operator works same as a separate and unrelated assignment prior to or following completion of their regular work assignment for the day or when same is worked on an off day.
- C. Said minimum guarantee shall not apply to coupled trippers or extras unless the combined time of same is less than two (2) hours, in which case the guarantee shall apply as one assignment.

25. INSTRUCTION RATE

- A. 118.75% of an operator's basic straight time rate will be paid operators for instructing students or trainees.
- B. Operators will be selected as instructors based upon their demonstrated superior performance.
- C. Unless the instructing operator is found negligent in their duties, they shall not be charged with any accident in which the student is involved, and it will not be entered on their record.

D. 125% of an operator's basic straight time rate will be paid to operators for instructing students or trainees during an owl run.

26. OPERATORS RETURNED TO TRAINING

- A. Operators required to return to training on a re-break status shall be compensated as follows:
 - 1. Operators with less than six (6) months of service or have not completed their probationary period shall be compensated at the student rate.
 - 2. Operators who have completed six (6) months of service and having completed their probationary period shall be compensated at their regular rates including spread and other premiums.
- B. Operators returned to training have the option of wearing their uniforms or the same dress required of student operators.
- C. The student rate will be paid in accordance with the minimum wage provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- D. When training is required for an Operator, the Operator will be notified in writing at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the start of the training.

27. COURT - CLAIMS - ACCIDENT REPORTS

A. Operators required to report to the Law Department, attend court for the department, or the City of Detroit, or to be detained at the terminal, shall be paid the regular wage rate plus travel time, and less witness fees.

When it is necessary that an operator be relieved for these purposes after, or prior to, working a portion of their run, they shall be paid for their entire run as though worked and shall be paid for all time consumed beyond the scheduled work hours of their run. In such cases any extra platform work performed before or after the scheduled hours of their run shall be compensated at the overtime rate provided the operator makes themselves available for work, during the scheduled hours of their run.

This provision shall not be construed as precluding the department from marking an operator off their entire run for the day for these purposes, in which case they shall be paid only for the actual time consumed plus any difference necessary to compensate them for the equivalent of their run.

B. When five (5) or more operators from a terminal are requested to appear for interview or other Law Department purposes, arrangements shall be made to see the operators at their respective terminals.

C. Pay for thirty (30) minutes will be allowed an operator for making out a required accident report and fifteen (15) minutes will be allowed for a required written statement, carbon copies will suffice as duplicates.

28. CHANGE OFF OF EQUIPMENT

Operators, when used to change off vehicles, will be allowed pay for the actual running time plus ten (10) minutes at the straight time rate, provided that they will receive the overtime rate for such work if it is performed in addition to eight (8) hours of work.

29. PAID INTERVENING TIME IN SWING RUNS

- A. When an unworked interval in a swing run amounts to one (1) hour or less, it will be treated and compensated for as actual platform time. Intervening time shall be determined from the off time of the first part of the run to the report time of the second part of the run.
- B. The lesser of the two (2) unworked intervals in a three (3) piece swing run will be treated and compensated for as actual platform time.

30. RUNNING TIME

- A. When the complaints of the operators show there should be an adjustment in running time or drop back on any line or lines, upon written notice to the board member from at least three (3) operators so affected, a representative or representatives of the employer and a representative or representatives of the Union together shall make a thorough study of the line or lines in dispute. When it is decided to make a schedule change, the department will rectify such running time and/or drop back as soon as practical, but not to exceed thirty (30) days.
- B. When changed conditions affect service, running time shall be adjusted for added coach stops or traffic lights, if construction is going to be for the duration of the pick.

31. REST PERIODS

- A. An operator who has performed eight (8) or more hours actual work or completed their assigned show-ups shall be given the option of taking a rest period of not less than ten (10) hours if they so request.
- B. An extra operator who completed only one (1) show-up can demand no such rest period unless they have worked a run or completed eight (8) hours work.
- C. An operator reporting at the designated time following such a rest period will be assigned work prior to those with less seniority whether they are then or later put on show-up.

32. CANCELED WORK SUBSTITUTION

- A. When a regular run, or portion is canceled in a schedule, the run holder shall nevertheless be paid as though they worked same, but they may be used in other work if in duration it approximates that which was canceled.
- B. The substituted work shall not start before or end more than thirty (30) minutes after that which was canceled, unless the substitution is for the last half of a swing run. With proper notification, work which starts and ends earlier may be substituted for the last half of a swing run.

33. EXTRA OPERATORS

- A. Extra operators, working a five (5) day week, who fulfill the requirements of this section, shall be guaranteed total weekly compensation of forty (40) hours at the regular straight time rate.
- B. Their work will be marked up and/or they will be placed on show-ups from which assignments will be made in the order of their seniority.
- C. Extra operators may be required to serve two (2) show-ups daily of not more than three (3) hours each of which the second show-up must be scheduled to complete within ten and one-half (10-1/2) hours after the start of the first show-up. No second A.M. or P.M. show-up shall be given until prior first show-ups are terminated.
 - When an operator receives a run while sitting on show-up, he or she shall be paid for the entire time that elapses from the start of the show-up to the end of the run. All such time payable under this subsection shall be in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement which determine when regular wage rates and overtime rates are payable to operators.
- D. In the event of the following occurrences an operator shall have their weekly guarantee reduced by eight (8) hours for each such occurrence.
 - 1. Refusal to make an assigned show-up and/or perform all assigned work.
 - 2. Failing to report immediately for further assignments when less than eight (8) hours work, including report and turn-in time, is received on the first show-up.
 - 3. While serving at the bottom of the board for disciplinary reasons.
- E. In case of the following occurrences, an operator shall have their minimum weekly guarantee reduced by the difference between the time actually worked by them for the day and eight (8) hours for each occurrence:
 - 1. A single miss or double miss;

- 2. Inability to finish a work assignment due to illness which necessitates their being relieved from their vehicle;
- 3. When permitted to change their first or second daily show-up for any reasons, excluding a rest period. (In such cases, extra man's spread minimum will not apply for the day.)
- F. If an operator is assigned a run on their first daily show-up, they shall work same to completion and shall enjoy the status of a run holder, with any spread premium being payable after ten (10) hours, inclusive of report and turn-in time, but beginning with time of show-up.
- G. Operators shall not be entitled to exercise preference for runs or trippers.
- H. When pieces of work are hooked up and assigned an operator on show-up, or when separate assignments are commenced within one (1) show-up period, the time between separate pieces will be paid for as time worked.
- I. Scheduled pieces of work may be split or divided by assigning only a portion, or by relieving the operator already assigned, but this shall not be done when an operator received a run on first show-up.
- J. Operators must complete work assignments except when given specific permission to pull in. If an assignment made on the second show-up would require that an operator work more than nine (9) hours including report and turn-in time or beyond a daily spread of twelve (12) hours, they may request that they be relieved at a relief point reached after the eleventh (11th) spread hour or eighth (8th) work hour.
 - If the operator is not relieved as requested, they shall notify the dispatcher via their coach radio or Terminal Supervisor via the nearest convenient public phone en route to the scheduled destination of their line. Such operator must continue en route, in service, to the end of the line, unless specifically authorized by the dispatcher or the Terminal Supervisor to pull in before going to the end of the line. The operator may then, pull in from the end of the line, but may not be required to operate in service on pull-in.
- K. All work time, report and turn-in time, allowances, premiums and bonuses shall be included in computing the minimum weekly guarantee provided that the following items are excluded and shall be paid in addition to any weekly guarantee allowance that may be due:
 - 1. Work performed on off days.
 - 2. Extra work performed after completion of work assignments received on show up.
 - 3. Extra man's spread premium.
- L. Operators on show-up shall be subject to an assignment within the classification of Transportation Equipment Operator.
- M. An extra operator may be sent to a foreign terminal for work during a day, but their travel time to and from their terminal will be paid as work time.

- N. Each extra man, in good standing, will be entitled to and may be required to serve on show-up in seniority order on each of their scheduled work days even though their earnings exceed their minimum weekly guarantee.
- O. On the six (6) major holidays, operators required to serve on show-up will be guaranteed a minimum of three (3) hours pay at the holiday premium rate, for each show-up, provided they meet the standard extra man requirements.

34. MISSING ASSIGNMENTS

- A. Subject to the provisions of paragraph C, when a operator misses in the A.M., but reports within two (2) hours, they shall either be put on the next A.M. show-up or be assigned a later show-up or be dismissed for the day in accordance with the requirements of the service. If not put on the next A.M. show-up, they will be assigned to only one (1) show-up that day.
- B. Subject to the provisions of paragraph C, when an operator misses in the P.M., but reports within two (2) hours they shall either be put on the next P.M. show-up or be assigned a later P.M. show-up or be dismissed for the day in accordance with the requirements of the service. If not put on the next P.M. show-up, they will be assigned to only one (1) show-up that day.
- C. An operator missing more than five (5) times in a fiscal year (July to June) may, by reasons thereof, be assigned work at the bottom of the extra man show-up list when they report for work following the miss. All operators miss record will be wiped clean at the beginning of each fiscal year.
- D. When an operator misses and does not report within two (2) hours, the penalty when they do report shall be on that day as per A and B hereof. On their next work day they shall be placed as last extra man.
- E. Operators when serving on show-up as extra men, shall be required to make all show-ups required for extra men in accordance with the terms of Section 33, paragraph C of this contract. No operator, while serving penalty time for missing will be entitled to the minimum weekly guarantee for extra men as to time lost on such days.
- F. If an operator misses all or part of their assigned run and is assigned a new piece of work in substitution, therefore, the said new piece of work will be considered as unconnected with any other work performed by them on that day prior to the miss except for the purpose of computing daily overtime premium. All penalties and allowances computed on the run originally assigned shall be forfeited.
- G. When an operator fails to report on time for the second part of their assigned run and then picks up their run and works the remaining part, they shall not be entitled to receive spread bonus for the run unless their late report was due to failure to DOT service.
- H. In computing spread premium, any work performed after a miss must be regarded as unconnected with that performed before a miss.

35. FUNERAL LEAVE (WITH PAY)

- A. If a death occurs among members of the employee's immediate family, such employee will be granted three (3) days leave not to be charged to Casual Leave or Sick Leave, provided that such leave may be extended to five (5) days if the funeral which the employee attends is more than 300 miles from the City of Detroit and charged to Casual Leave, Sick Leave, Vacation or without pay based upon individual circumstances. When an employee is entitled to three (3) days leave under this provision and the funeral is within 300 miles of Detroit, they shall be granted two (2) days to be charged to Casual Leave, Vacation or Sick Leave upon their request.
- B. **A Definition of Immediate Family:** The immediate family is defined as wife, husband, son, daughter, brother, sister, father, mother, stepfather, stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, grandson and granddaughter.
- C. If death occurs among the relatives of the employee, the employee will be granted one (1) day leave, not to be charged to sick leave or Casual Leave provided they attend the funeral. If the funeral which the employee attends is more than 300 miles from the City of Detroit, the employee may extend the leave by two (2) days to be charged against Casual Leave, Sick Leave or Vacation upon their request.
- D. **Definition of Relative:** Relatives are defined as, grandmother, grandfather, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, uncle, aunt, mother-in-law and father-in-law.
- E. In the event the local union president could not attend, their designated representative from the bargaining unit with proper notification to the department head, shall be allowed one (1) funeral leave day, not to be charged to Casual Leave or Sick Leave, in the event of the death of a member of the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement.

36. VACATIONS

- A. Annual paid vacation based upon employment and service will be granted those who qualify for same.
- B. Employment will be credited while one is listed as an active employee with the Department of Transportation or with other City departments as per Appendix B hereof. One will not be considered employed during periods of layoff or during leaves of absence unless same are for military service as per Appendix A, or for training encampments as reservists as per Board Meeting No. 1750.
- C. A service day is one for which an operator earns wages for work, holidays, vacation, sick leave, in military or City service as provided in Appendixes A and B.
- D. Operators will become eligible for full paid vacation for each employment year of 225 or more service days.
- E. Those who fail to accumulate 225 service days shall be entitled to one-twelfth (1/12) of a vacation for each month of eighteen (18) or more such service days only.

- F. Upon separation for any reason other than mishandling fares, operators will be paid vacation due and earned in the previous year. Operators separating by resignation or discharge after a departmental finding of guilty of mishandling fares shall be ineligible as to any vacation allowance.
- G. Those who die, or are granted a leave of absence, or are separated for reasons other than discharge, shall be entitled to prorated vacation leave on the basis of one-twelfth (1/12) of a vacation for each month of eighteen (18) or more service days.
- H. No full or partial vacation shall be allowed until an operator completes their first employment year, but they shall then be allowed vacation earned up to July 1st, and it shall be connected with their next succeeding off days. Subsequent vacations shall be computed on a fiscal year basis.
- I. Operators vacation allowances will be as follows:

VACATION ALLOWANCE:

	Vacation	Allowance
Year of Service	<u>Days</u>	<u>Hours</u>
. 1	5	40
2-5	10	80
6	11	88
7	12	96
8	13	104
9	14	112
10-12	17	13 <u>6</u>
13	18	144
14	19	152
15 or more	20	160

- J. Operators shall not be entitled to enjoy more than one (1) vacation in any fiscal year unless they separate as in paragraph G.
- K. When one (1) of the holidays falls during an operator's vacation period, their division head will determine whether or not to pay them for one (1) extra day or extend their paid vacation.
- L. Management shall determine the number of vacation leaves to be scheduled at any given time of the year, and they shall base such determination on the requirements of the service. Vacation periods will then be selected by operators according to seniority.
- M. Operators going on two (2) or more consecutive weeks of vacation leave may, by advance written notice to the paymaster, have their paychecks forwarded to themselves, by mail, on pay days.
- N. Operators will be permitted to select up to four (4) weeks regular vacation, not including bonus vacation, on the first selection, provided that no more than three (3) weeks may be selected during the prime vacation period starting with the school close schedules in June and ending with the school open schedules in September.

- O. When the vacation pick is finished, a copy of the vacation schedule will be given to the Union.
- P. Up to five vacation days may be requested per year, in one day increments. Once an Operator has at least two (2) weeks of vacation, they may schedule half of it during the vacation pick. An operator will not be granted a vacation day if the scheduled vacations have reached the quota.
- Q. All unused vacation which has not been picked, will be posted in the terminal between March 1st and March 10th of each year. Such vacation will be picked from the vacation schedule.
- R. Any vacation which remains unused on June 30th will be forfeited. However, an Operator may request to carry over up to forty (40) hours of vacation into the next fiscal year. All requests must be made prior to June 20th of each year.
- S. Vacation will be considered as time worked for the purpose of computing off day overtime.
- T. Operators will be allowed to work their scheduled vacations.
- U. Vacation time will be credited on a fiscal year basis.

37. HOLIDAYS

Operators shall be compensated as follows for eleven (11) recognized holidays, consisting of Independence Day, Veterans' Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Election Day, Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, New Year's Eve, New Year's Day, Martin Luther King's Birthday and Memorial Day.

When there is no major election during the year, Election Day will be paid on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November of that year.

Eight (8) hours pay at straight time, in addition to regular pay for time worked, will be paid for Good Friday. Operators do not have to be working on this day, provided they are in good standing.

- A. Operators in good standing shall receive eight (8) hours pay at their then base rate when excused from work on any of the above holidays provided those operators will qualify for holiday pay if they are paid for at least eight (8) hours, exclusive of overtime, anytime in the calendar week prior to, during or after the holiday, providing that they continue on the payroll through the holiday in question.
- B. The unexcused absence from work by an operator on a holiday will result in loss to them of the holiday pay allowance.
- C. Absence due to illness on a holiday must be approved by the Sick Leave Board prior to payment of holiday allowance.

- D. An operator missing or serving at the bottom of the board of same on the aforesaid service days or holidays, who nevertheless is assigned and performs eight (8) hours work, including report and turn-in time, shall not be denied holiday pay by reason thereof, if they are otherwise qualified.
- E. An operator who works on a holiday and who qualified for aforesaid eight (8) hours pay, shall receive same plus their regular pay for the work in lieu of any off-day premium. If they fail to qualify for the holiday pay, they shall receive only the regular pay for their work performance. Qualified operators who work on New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day will be paid two hundred percent (200%) of their base rate for all hours worked plus eight (8) hours holiday allowance. If holiday schedules are operated on Martin Luther King's birthday, the premium rate will be paid the same as the above holidays.
- F. If an operator is qualified to receive pay for a holiday which falls on their seventh (7th) day according to their work schedule, then the Employer will within its discretion either grant their holiday pay for the said day or allow them another work day off with holiday pay.
- G. Exclusive of Election Day and Veterans' Day a pick of the remaining six (6) major holidays will be held once a year, and each operator shall in accordance with their seniority be required to select three (3) of the holidays as days off.

Changes to this Article 38 are reflected in the Memorandum of Understanding RE: Alternative Health Care Plan.

38. HOSPITALIZATION, MEDICAL INSURANCE AND OPTICAL CARE

A. The City shall provide hospitalization and medical insurance based on the Blue Cross/Blue Shield ward service under the Michigan Variable Fee coverage (MVF-2) and the Prescription Drug Group Benefit Certificate with three dollar (\$3.00) co-pay (Certificate #87), known as the two-dollar (\$2.00), deductible Drug Rider for employees and their legal dependents, duty disability retirees and their legal dependents, duty death beneficiaries and their legal dependents. as provided by Chapter 13, Article 11 of the Municipal Code of the City of Detroit.

NOTE: The \$2 deductible Drug Rider (Certificate #87 referenced above) reflects the benefit at the time the premium sharing arrangement was instituted. Effective July 1, 2006, the copay for the Prescription Drug benefit is \$5 for generic drugs and \$15 for brand name drugs. Retirees shall be responsible for the co-pay amount in the effect at the time of retirement.

B. The City will pay up to the following amounts per month for hospitalization:

Single Person \$100.06 Two Persons \$238.29 Family \$253.54 Fifty percent of any premium charges that exceed the above amounts shall be paid by the employees and fifty percent shall be paid by the employer.

- C. Employees who wish to insure sponsored dependents shall pay the premium cost of this coverage.
- D. The City will provide regular retirees and their spouses hospitalization and medical insurance based on the Blue Cross/Blue Shield ward service under the Blue Cross,/Blue Shield ward service under the Michigan Variable Fee Coverage (MVF-2) and the Prescription Drug Group Benefit Certificate with three dollar (\$3.00) co-pay (Certificate #87) known as the two dollar (\$2.00) deductible Drug Rider as provided by City Council in the 1977-78 Closing Resolution. The City will pay this premium for regular retirees and their spouses for only as long as they receive a pension from the City. For persons who retire on or after July 1, 1986, the City will pay up to the following amounts per month for hospitalization and medical insurance:

Single Person \$100.06 Two Persons \$238.29

Fifty percent of any increase over these amounts shall be paid by the retiree and fifty percent shall be paid by the City. The City will pay this premium for regular retirees and their spouses only for as long as they receive a pension from the City.

- E. The City Blue Cross hospitalization plan for active employees and their dependents and retirees and their spouses shall include Blue Cross Master Medical Insurance with a twenty percent (20%) co-pay benefit and a fifty dollar (\$50.00) per person annual deductible (\$100.00 for two or more in a family).
- F. Employees and retirees shall have the option of choosing alternative hospitalization medical coverage from any plan or program made available by the City. The Union shall also have the option of selecting a traditional carrier provided they meet the standards as set forth in this section. The City's contribution to the alternative plans or programs shall be limited to the premium cost charges by Blue Cross/Blue Shield for the level of benefits provided in Paragraphs B and D, as applicable. If at the end of any fiscal year an alternative hospitalization plan or program has failed to enroll 50 employees city wide, the City shall have the option of removing that plan from the list of eligible plans or programs. Effective with the 1987-88 fiscal year all alternate carriers must account for their premium charges without distinguishing between active and retired employees using the following format:

Single Person Two Person Family

Any alternate traditional hospitalization carrier selected by the Union must furnish the City with an annual financial accounting for rate development and experience data by April 1st each year for the members insured by that company.

In the event that Blue Cross/Blue Shield will no longer coexist with an alternate traditional carrier and the Union does not select Blue Cross/Blue Shield as a carrier, benefits offered to current retirees insured by Blue Cross/Blue Shield shall be substantially equivalent to those as of June 30, 1986.

G. The City shall provide for all active employees and their dependents a Dental Plan which shall be the Blue Cross/Blue Shield program which provides Class I benefits on a 25% co-pay basis and Class II and III benefits on a 50% co-pay basis. Classes I, II and III benefits shall not exceed \$1,000 per person per year. In addition, Orthodontic coverage shall be on a 50% co-pay basis with a \$1,000 lifetime maximum.

The City will contribute an equal amount per employee to a dental capitation plan made available to its employees.

Newly hired employees shall not be eligible for these benefits until they shall have worked 1,040 straight time hours.

- H. The City will provide Optical Care Insurance through the Employee Benefit Board, such benefit will include case hardened lenses.
- I. If, during the term of this Agreement, a Federal Health Security Act is enacted, the City of Detroit will pay during the term of the Agreement any premium, taxes or contribution employees may be required to pay under a Federal Health Security Act that are specifically earmarked or designated for the purpose of the Federal Program.
- J. No insurance carrier shall be allowed to underwrite City Health Care Benefits unless it offers coordination of benefits.
- K. The City reserves the right to implement Health Care Cost Containment Programs during the term of the Contract. Said Cost Containment Program shall not diminish the levels of benefits provided in the basis plans but may require the insured to follow procedures prescribed by the carrier in order to be eligible for benefits. If premium levels remain below the 1982-83 base year premiums for coverage listed in paragraph B, the City will pay fifty percent (50%) of that amount to an escrow account which shall be used to offset health care cost or to increase health care benefits.
- L. Effective January 1, 1987, the City shall implement a Preferred Provider Prescription Drug program in its traditional hospitalization plan.
- M. Effective January 2003, operators will be entitled to participate in the City's medical insurance opt-out program in accordance with all of the City's benefits and administrative rules applicable to the program.

39. EMPLOYEES SERVING ON JURY DUTY

- A. An employee who serves on jury duty will be paid the difference between their pay for jury duty and their regular day's pay for all days they are required to serve on jury duty.
- B. In the event that an employee reports for jury duty but is not selected to actually serve on a jury, they will be paid the difference between the jury pay received and their regular day's pay and be excused for the day, exclusive of travel pay.
- C. In order to receive payment for jury duty an employee must have been regularly scheduled to work on a non-overtime basis and within ten (10) days of completion of serving on jury duty they must turn in documentation received from court to departmental supervisor of such service, otherwise, all monies paid will be recovered by the department.
- D. Jury duty shall be considered as time worked. Run holders will be paid for the difference between pay for jury duty and pay for their regularly scheduled runs. Extra persons will be paid the difference between pay for jury duty and eight (8) hours.
- E. An operator serving on jury duty shall report for scheduled work on any day they are not required to serve on jury duty.
- F. An operator who is required to serve on jury duty is not required to report for work that day regardless of the time of their scheduled work.

40. LONGEVITY PAY

- A. Employees shall qualify for longevity pay as follows:
 - 1. Employees may qualify for the first step of longevity pay, provided they have served as City employees for an accumulated period of five (5) years.
 - 2. Employees may qualify for the second step of longevity pay, inclusive of the first step provided they have served as City employees for an accumulated period of eleven (11) years.
 - 3. Employees may qualify for the third step of longevity pay, inclusive of the first and second steps, provided they have served as City employees for an accumulated period of sixteen (16) years.
 - 4. Employees may qualify for the fourth step of longevity pay, inclusive of the first, second and third steps, provided they have served as City employees for an accumulated period of twenty-one (21) years.
 - 5. Employees may qualify for the fifth step of longevity pay, inclusive of the first, second, third and fourth steps, provided they have served as City employees for an accumulated period of twenty-six (26) years.

- 6. The first step of longevity increment shall be one hundred fifty dollars (\$150). The second step of longevity increment inclusive of the first step, shall be three hundred dollars (\$300). The third step of longevity increment, inclusive of the first and second steps, shall be four hundred and fifty dollars (\$450). The fourth step of longevity increment, inclusive of the first, second and third steps, shall be six hundred dollars (\$600). The fifth step of longevity increment, inclusive of the first, second, third and fourth steps, shall be seven hundred and fifty dollars (\$750).
- B. Employees who have qualified for longevity pay and have accumulated at least sixteen hundred (1,600) hours of straight time Regular Payroll hours of paid time during the year immediately preceding any December 1st date or other day of payment will qualify for a full longevity payment provided they are on the payroll on the December 1st date or any other date of qualification. Except for employees first qualifying for increments, the payment will be made in a lump sum annually on the first pay date after December 1st.

No employee will be denied a full longevity payment on December 1st because of a temporary unpaid absence of twenty (20) continuous days or less extending through the December 1st date in question, or because he/she fail to meet the qualifying hours specified in paragraph B above due to being on Workers' Compensation.

- C. Employees who first qualify for longevity pay increments in any month after any December 1st date shall be paid such increment on a pro-rata basis upon attaining such qualification in the amount of a full increment less one-twelfth (1/12th) thereof for each calendar month or fraction thereof from the previous December 1st date to date of such qualification.
- D. Prorated longevity payments may be made between December 1st dates to qualified employees and officers who separate or take leave from City service, excluding those who are discharged, those who resign and those who resign with a vested pension. Such prorated longevity increment shall be paid for time served on a full calendar month basis since the date of their last longevity payment; provided that each month shall contain at least 160 straight time Regular Payroll hours of service.
- E. All of the above provisions except as modified herein shall be in accordance with Chapter 13, Article 7, of the Municipal Code, of the City of Detroit.

41. MISCELLANEOUS BENEFITS

- A. Employee benefits as contained in City of Detroit Ordinances establishing sick leave, retirement sick leave, longevity, layoff benefits, vacation transfer and jury duty shall apply unless otherwise modified by this Agreement.
- B. The requirements for promotion of the Transportation Equipment Operators to the classification Transportation Station Worker shall be a minimum four (4) years of road time in the classification of Transportation Equipment Operator which is satisfactory to the department. In any case where the question arises as to whether the applicant has fully met the qualifications of road time, his or her actual employment payroll records must be

examined and if the employee has driven a total of more than 8,320 hours, inclusive of ordinary work days off for holidays, vacation, jury duty, funeral leave, casual leave, sick time for which he or she received payment from their sick bank, swing holidays, FMLA time, etc., the requirement will have been met. Time, paid or unpaid, pursuant to an approved leave of absence or while recovering from an occupational injury will not be counted in determining road time.

- C. A suitable watch will be presented by the Department of Transportation to each employee represented by the Union upon their retirement, and inscribed with the length of service and date of retirement.
- D. Active and retired employees will be permitted to ride without charge on all local, express and zone fare coaches, excepting Race Track or Special Service coaches, without payment of any additional or premium fare upon presentation of a current pass card or a retirement pass card.
- E. Employee benefits for those employees sixty-five (65) years of age and older may be modified as permitted by law but shall not result in any additional cost to the employee, (e.g. coordination of Medicare/Medicaid coverage with City hospitalization coverage).
- F. Bargaining unit members may participate in the City's Tuition Refund Program in accordance with the policies as administered by the Human Resources Department. Employees requesting a tuition refund should submit the applications to the Human Resources Officer in their department.
 - 1. Currently, the maximum amount of the tuition refund shall be as indicated below:
 - a. An eligible employee will be entitled to receive a maximum of \$2,000 per fiscal year to be applied toward tuition in seeking a graduate degree from an accredited university.
 - b. An eligible employee will be entitled to receive a maximum of \$1,500 per fiscal year to be applied toward tuition in seeking an undergraduate degree from an accredited university.
 - c. An eligible employee will be entitled to receive a maximum of \$1,200 per fiscal year to be applied toward payment for participation in employee development programs.
 - The above amounts cannot be pyramided to permit any employee to receive more than a total amount of \$2,000 in any fiscal year.
- G. For employees who are required by the City to have a Commercial Driver's License (CDL), the City will pay fifty percent (50%) of the renewal fee for their CDL and for their Medical Card. Refund payments will not include any other fees or expenses associated with renewing a CDL. To be eligible for this reimbursement, employees must follow the procedures established by the Department. This reimbursement is only for CDL renewals obtained after September 19, 2003.

42. UNIFORMS

- A. The Department shall provide all new T.E.O.'s with their initial uniform. When the Department has purchased a T.E.O.'s initial uniform that T.E.O. shall be ineligible to receive any annual uniform allowance until he or she has completed two (2) years of service in accordance with paragraph B. This will take effect for any new T.E.O. first required to be in uniform after the date the Department has officially adopted the new blue uniform in a written rule issued to the T.E.O.'s and the Union.
- B. Effective with the payment to be made in or about September, 2003, and annually thereafter, those operators having completed two (2)* years of service and who are actively working in the classification of T.E.O., shall be granted an annual uniform payment totaling five hundred dollars (\$500) to be paid in the amount of two hundred and fifty dollars (\$250) twice yearly. These payments shall be made in the months of September and April.** Those operators who are receiving Sick Leave Allowance or Sickness and Accident benefits, Long Term Disability benefits, on Leave of Absence (including non-intermittent FMLA), or who are not for any other reason actively working in the capacity of T.E.O. during the week the uniform payment is issued will not be entitled to receive a uniform payment at that time. However, upon their return to work and after actively working a full regularly scheduled work week the operator will be issued a uniform payment at that time.
 - *Each year of service is twelve (12) months of eighteen (18) paid days.
 - **For the year 2003 the full \$500 payment will be made in one payment as soon as possible after the contract is ratified by the membership.
- C. Six (6) months after the Department has officially adopted the new uniform as provided for in paragraph A above, or on another date that the parties may mutually agree upon, the standard uniform of a T.E.O. will be changed to the new blue color and will be composed of the following clothing items:

Garrison Hat, Shirt, Trousers/Skirt, Tie, Eisenhower Jacket, Winter Jacket (Also, customary ancillary uniform items, such as turtleneck, polo summer shirt, belt, shorts, watch, watch holder, punch holder, sweater, baseball cap, skull cap and navy blue vest, will be allowed to be worn in the appropriate, authorized color and must adhere to DDOT regulations.)

On the date the new blue uniform becomes the mandatory T.E.O. uniform, all T.E.O.'s must report to work in the complete new blue uniform or the T.E.O. will be "out of uniform" and will not be permitted to work. Any T.E.O. out of uniform will also not be entitled to receive any alternative form of pay of any kind (e.g., vacation pay, sick time or S&A, holiday pay, funeral leave pay, jury duty pay, etc.) until the T.E.O. has conclusively demonstrated that he or she possesses a complete new blue uniform.

During the six (6) months prior to the new uniform becoming the required dress of a T.E.O., the T.E.O. may choose to report in either the current green uniform or the new blue one, but at no time will the T.E.O. be allowed to mix parts of each uniform. Not being in a complete

uniform of either color means the T.E.O. is out of uniform and thus has disqualified him or herself from working and receiving any alternative form of pay as specified in the above paragraph.

D. The tailoring, quality of material, cut and design of the current green uniform, which shall include culottes (for women) and vests, will be determined jointly between Management and the Union.

FABRIC SPECIFICATIONS:

Jacket	16-16-1/2 oz.	55% Dacron/45% Wool
Winter Trousers	16-16-1/2 oz.	55% Dacron/45% Wool
Summer Trousers	11-11-1/2 oz.	55% Dacron/45% Wool
Shirt	07-07-1/2 oz.	65% Dacron/35% Wool
Sweater		100% Wool or equal

Material quality and fabric specifications for the new blue uniform will be determined jointly by management and the Union.

- E. Operators must wear a clean uniform and tie (optional) and may not wear a vest without a jacket or sweater. Operators may wear navy blue or black shoes with one (1) inch heels and 1/2 inch soles.
- F. Uniform jackets will be specified for operators in winter months. Operators shall wear a uniform jacket or sweater when the vehicle is heated.
- G. Any operator wearing other items not a part of the designated uniform will be considered "OUT OF UNIFORM" while on duty.
- H. During the period from May 1st to October 1st, the operators may operate without uniform jackets or sweaters, in shirt sleeves. Also between May 1st and October 1st ATU Local 26 baseball caps may be worn as part of the uniform, on Friday, Saturday, and Sunday.
- I. An operator may operate at any time without their uniform cap, if they so choose, as long as the same is so displayed as to leave the badge number in plain view and no other cap or hat is worn while they are on duty. However, the uniform cap must always be worn when:
 - 1. Reporting for duty to the Transportation Terminal Supervisor
 - 2. Receiving or returning transfers or refund slips at the Cashiers window
 - 3. Securing a coach assignment from the Transportation Station Worker
 - 4. Leaving the coach when identification is necessary, such as securing information on an accident
 - 5. When working as a Loader
 - 6. On an assignment where a full uniform is specified.

43. REDUCTION IN FORCE

Laid-off employees covered by this Agreement shall receive unemployment benefits in accordance with the unemployment insurance plan administered by the Michigan Employment Security Commission under the Michigan Employment Security Act.

SECTION 1 - REDUCTION IN FORCE TERMS DEFINED

- A. A <u>reduction in force</u> is a reduction in the number of employees in a given class in a department of the City for lack of work, lack of funds or reasons other than the acts or delinquencies of employees.
 - The expiration of a limited term certification or change of status shall not be considered a reduction in force.
- B. A <u>layoff</u> due to reduction in force is the removal of an employee from a position in a department and from the classified service of the City of Detroit, subject to the recall rights provided under this Rule.
- C. A <u>demotion</u> due to reduction in force is the removal of an employee from a position in a class in a department by change of status to a position in a lower class.
- D. A <u>transfer</u> due to reduction in force is the removal of an employee from a position in a class in a department by change of status to a position in another class which is at the same level.
- E. A <u>voluntary lay off</u> is a removal of an employee from the classified service of the City of Detroit which is made at the request of and for the convenience of the employee.
- F. Unless otherwise indicated, <u>seniority</u> shall mean total City seniority as determined in accordance with Human Resources Department Rules.
- G. An employee acquires <u>status</u> in the classified service by certification in accordance with Section 6-510 of the City Charter and Human Resources Department Rules III and IV.
- H. An employee who is certified, promoted, transferred or demoted to a position in a class on a regular permanent basis or permanent-subject to continuing availability of program funding, acquires <u>permanent status</u> in the class, provided they have satisfied all qualification requirements of the class including completion of any required probation period. An employee can have permanent status in only one class at a time.
- I. An employee who is certified, promoted, transferred or demoted to a position in a class only for a specified term on conditional event, or where the certification or status change states that such employment is limited to assignment on a particular project, acquires <u>limited-term status</u> in the class.

SECTION 2 - ORDER AND MANNER OF REDUCTION

In the event of a planned reduction in force, when time is available, the Union will be given a seventy-two (72) hour notice of the layoff.

Reduction in force shall be by class in a department and shall be made from among all employees in the same class in that department.

- A. Within the department, the following categories shall be removed first:
 - 1. Provisional employees shall be separated by terminating their services; provided, however, that employees provisionally employed in the class who hold permanent status in some other class shall revert to the class in the department from which they were provisionally promoted or transferred.
 - 2. Employees who have not completed their initial probationary period shall be laid off in accordance with their seniority, the least senior employee first.
 - 3. Employees hired on a limited-term basis shall be laid off in accordance with their seniority, the least senior employee being laid off first.
- B. In the event it is necessary to reduce the number of permanent status employees in the class, the order of removal shall be as follows:
 - Employees in the class on a limited-term basis and employees in the class on a permanent basis who have not completed the required probationary period, but who hold permanent status in some other class, shall be restored to the class from which they were promoted or transferred. Removal shall be in accordance with their total City seniority, the least senior employee to be removed first.
 - 2. Employees in the class on a permanent basis shall be removed in accordance with their total City seniority, the least senior employee to be removed first. Such employees shall be laid off subject to the following demotion or transfer rights within the department:

(a) Demotion in Series

If the employee is in a class in an occupational series, the employee shall have the right to be demoted to a position in a lower class in the series, provided there are one or more employees in the lower class in the department having less total City seniority. (The least senior employee displaced as a result shall be subject to demotion, transfer or layoff in accordance with applicable provisions of this Rule.)

An employee who waives their right to demotion to the next lower class in series and is laid off shall lose all rights to City-wide displacement, as provided for in Section 3, and restoration rights, as provided for in Paragraph A, of Section 4.

(b) Demotion or Transfer to a Formerly-Held Class

If the employee has previously held permanent status in another class not in series which is at the same or lower level, the employee may elect demotion or transfer to such class, provided there are one or more employees in the class in the department having less total City seniority. (The least senior employee displaced as a result shall be subject to demotion, transfer or layoff in accordance with applicable provisions of this Rule).

An election to accept a demotion or transfer to a formerly held class is optional for employees who also have a right to a demotion in series.

(c) Change of Status to Vacant Positions in Other Classes

If the employee has exhausted their rights to demotion or transfer under (a) and (b) above, the department may, in so far as the interests of the service permit, propose transfer or demotion of the employee to an available vacant position in any other class in the department for which the department believes the employee is qualified. Such proposed change of status shall be subject to the approval of the Human Resources Director.

SECTION 3 - CITY WIDE DISPLACEMENT

Employees with permanent status who have been laid off in a class from a City department shall displace employees of the same classification in those categories listed in Paragraph A, of Section 2, on a City-wide basis. In addition, laid off permanent employees who have one or more years of classified service shall displace other permanent employees in the same classification of lesser seniority on a City-wide basis; and if there are no lesser seniority employees in the same classification, shall have the right to displace lesser seniority employees in a lower class in the same occupational series. Employees who fail to exhaust their eligibility for demotion to the next lower class in series in their department shall lose their eligibility for City-wide displacement. (Least senior employees displaced under this section shall be subject to demotion, transfer or layoff in accordance with applicable provisions of this Rule).

Displacement of lesser seniority employees across departmental lines shall be accomplished by layoff and displacement certification and shall coincide with the effective date of the layoff, if possible, but in any event within thirty (30) days of the effective date of layoff of employees having displacement rights.

SECTION 4 - RE-EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURES

A. Employees with permanent status in the class who were laid off, demoted, transferred or laid off and certified to a lower class as a result of reduction in force shall have their names maintained in order of their total City seniority on a special register ("blocking list") in the Human Resources Department. Such employees shall be entitled to re-certification, promotion or transfer from the register to any vacancy in the class from which they were demoted, transferred or laid off, or any lower class in the same series in any City department, before any such vacancy can be filled by certification, promotion or transfer.

An employee's name shall remain on the special register until they are restored to the classification (or equivalent level) from which they were demoted, transferred or laid off, or waives an offer of such restoration.

- B. Laid off employees who elect layoff in lieu of demotion in series shall be placed on the preferred eligible list for the class in which they were laid off and shall be re-certified to available vacancies in this class in the order of their total City seniority from the list.
- C. Laid off employees shall be placed in preferred eligible lists for all other classes in which they have held permanent status and shall be offered certification to available vacancies in these classes in the order of their total City seniority from such lists, provided that employees who were laid off in such classes have been first recalled.
 - Should a laid off employee on a preferred eligible list waive an offer of employment to a position in the class, their right to remain on that list shall terminate.
- D. In the absence of a preferred eligible list for a class, laid off employees shall be certified to requisitions for positions in such class from higher, equivalent or allied lists which have been determined to be appropriate by the Human Resources Director.

SECTION 5 - EFFECT OF JURISDICTIONAL LINES

The order of layoff, demotion and re-employment shall not be altered by bargaining unit jurisdictional lines and employees shall carry their total City seniority across jurisdictional lines for reduction in force purposes.

SECTION 6 - EMPLOYEES HOLDING MULTIPLE TITLES

In determining an employee's rights under this Rule, an employee can have permanent status in only one class at a time. An employee who carries a multiple title shall have permanent status in the lowest class of the multiple title or the class in which they last held permanent status on a single title basis, unless there is a contractual agreement which otherwise identifies the class in which the employee has permanent status, or official action is taken designating such class based upon the nature and history of the employment. Such agreement or official action must be completed at least ninety (90) days prior to the announcement of the reduction in force.

SECTION 7 - CONDITIONAL WAIVER OF EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

Where the City anticipates that a reduction in force will not exceed thirty (30) days, an employee in a class subject to reduction in force and their employing department may agree to a conditional waiver of the employee's seniority rights for a specified period not to exceed thirty (30) days. This conditional waiver must be in writing and be approved by the Human Resources Director. It is recognized that an out-of-seniority layoff resulting from such waiver is of the benefit of the City and the employee retains the right to exercise all rights to restoration, demotion, transfer and displacement at the end of the specified period.

SECTION 8 - PREEMPTIVE LAYOFF REQUESTS

If a reduction in force in a department is imminent or taking place over an extended period of time, any employee who has been identified as being subject to layoff may request in writing that they be laid off prior to the date when they would be reached for such layoff. Such request is subject to approval of the employing department and the Human Resources Director.

Employees who are granted an effective date of layoff earlier than the scheduled layoff date shall retain the same rights which they would have had had they been laid off as scheduled.

SECTION 9 - STATUS CHANGES IN ANTICIPATION OF LAYOFFS

Where the Human Resources Department shall find that any status change was made either to avoid the layoff of or to cause the layoff of any employee, upon finding by the Human Resources Director that such status change was made for reasons other than the good of the service such status change shall be set aside and proper layoff made; provided, however, this Section shall not apply to status changes of more than six (6) month's standing.

44. SICK LEAVE, CASUAL LEAVE, SICKNESS AND ACCIDENT AND EXTENDED DISABILITY INSURANCE

- A. Payment for all sick leave shall be subject to the discretion and approval of the Sick Leave Board. All appeals shall be heard by the Sick Leave Board.
- B. Operators shall notify their Station Master one hour before report time in the event of illness or other absence. The report may be made by telephone. On the work day following any such absence the operator must notify their terminal one hour before that they will be reporting for work, otherwise their run will be reassigned for the day. Operators who fail to notify their Station Master of their absence in accordance with this paragraph shall be charged with a "miss".
- C. Any operator who fails without good reason to give the required notice of illness or absence, shall be charged with a miss. The following day will then be treated as the first day of illness or absence for the purpose of computing paid sick leave.
- D. An operator who is marked off for a day after giving notice of illness of one (1) day or less, will be marked up for their run or show-up on the day following. If their illness extends beyond the first day their name will be placed on the sick list.
- E. An operator, when reporting for work after more than one (1) day of absence, shall notify the Transportation Terminal Supervisor by 7:00 A.M. in order that they may work the following day.
- F. Sick notes for absences of three (3) consecutive days or less may be written by the operator. For absences of more than three (3) consecutive days, the department will require medical proof.

G. Sick Leave Earned Prior to July 1, 1978

- 1. After July 1, 1978, sick leave may be used to supplement the benefits paid by the Sickness and Accident and Extended Disability Benefit Insurance program to provide 100% pay to an employee until such banks are exhausted. An employee supplementing Sickness and Accident and Extended Disability Benefits with sick leave under this section shall not accrue any benefits except as provided in sections J-2 and K-2 of this article.
- 2. Sick leave may also be used to provide payment for time lost because of an unpaid absence due to illness according to departmental practices regulating sick leave.
- 3. An employee who retires or dies on or after January 1, 1978, shall be paid 60% of their unused sick leave banks earned prior to July 1, 1978, plus an additional 10% of their banks for each complete year they work over 30 years, not to exceed 100% of the bank.

30 years or less	=	60% of unused sick leave.
31 years	=	70% of unused sick leave.
32 years	=	80% of unused sick leave.
33 years	=	90% of unused sick leave.
34 years	=	100% of unused sick leave.

- 4. The payments will be made as part of the Employee's Pension Program or the Employee's Benefit Plan, or through the Finance Department.
- H. If an employee has no casual leave or sick leave they may charge vacation for time lost due to illness if the employee files a claim for Sickness and Accident Insurance and duration of the illness is of sufficient time to qualify for Sickness and Accident Insurance.

I. Casual Leave

- 1. All employees who have been on the payroll for the previous six (6) months and who shall have completed three (3) months of continuous service on July 1 of any one fiscal year shall be granted seven (7) Casual Leave Days on July 1 of any one fiscal year provided they are on the payroll on that date. A month of continuous service is a calendar month for which an employee is paid for a minimum of eighteen days. Any calendar month for which an employee is not paid for a minimum of eighteen (18) days shall not be counted.
 - (a) Employees not on payroll effective July 1st:

Employees returning	Days credited after three	
to work in the month of	(3) months of new service	
July	7	
August	6	
September - October	5	
November - December	4	
January - February	3	
March	2	
April through June	7 days next fiscal year	

The exception to the above shall be that no casual leave will be credited for the months of May nor June

(b) New Hires:

	Days credited after six (6)
If an employee	months on the payroll with three
qualifies in the month of	(3) months of continuous service
July 1	7
August 1	6
September 1	5
October 1	4
November 1	3
December 1	2
January 1 through March 1	1
April through June	7 days next fiscal year

- 2. For the purpose of this Section, an employee shall be considered off the payroll if they are fired, quits, engages in a work stoppage, is on a formal leave of absence granted by the Human Resources Department (generally over 30 days), laid off, collecting Extended Disability Benefit Insurance, or retired. An employee's payroll status not covered by the above shall be subject to a special conference. Criteria to be used to determine payroll status will be if the absence of the employee shall be for more than thirty (30) days.
- 3. The seven (7) casual leave days may be used for personal or family illness without requirement of medical proof of illness. An employee may also use casual leave for moving day, wedding day, closing a mortgage or other important personal business, which cannot reasonably be handled outside working hours, provided they arrange with their supervisor at least 24 hours in advance. The supervisor shall have the right to deny personal leave if the employee's absence would adversely affect the department's operation.
- 4. Up to eight (8) hours of casual leave may be used in less than four (4) hour increments but not less than one (1) hour increments. Otherwise casual leave must be used in not less than half-day increments.
- 5. Employees may not use the provisions of this Section for scheduled work on a holiday or Excused Time Day. Departments shall have the right to require proof of illness for absence due to illness on holidays and excused time off days.

6. Casual Leave Bonus Plan

- a. All casual leave earned under this Section may be converted to vacation or paid in cash at the option of the department if not used in the fiscal year in which it is credited or if an employee is laid off.
- b. If no casual leave in the complete fiscal year is used because an employee had no unscheduled absences, such employee shall be paid for nine (9) days.

- c. If one casual leave day is used in the complete fiscal year because an employee only had one day of unscheduled absence, such employee will be paid eight (8) days.
- d. All unscheduled absences (except funeral leave) will be charged first to unused casual leave days.
- e. Absences of employees excused for Union business will not be charged to casual leave.
- f. No casual leave bonus will be paid employees who have more than one unscheduled absence even when casual leave was not used to cover that absence.
- 7. Employees who have notified the City of their intent to resign may be required to furnish proof of illness for casual days taken under this Section.
- 8. No more than seven (7) casual leave days may be credited to an employee in any fiscal year.
- 9. No disciplinary action shall be taken as a result of using the seven (7) casual days granted under this section in accordance with the above.
- 10. No casual leave will be paid between June 20 and June 30, at the end of the fiscal year, for the purpose of auditing casual leave banks to reimburse employees for unused casual leave. If an employee has an unscheduled absence during this period and has casual leave for which they are due to be reimbursed, such employee will not be paid casual leave for the actual day(s) of absence but will receive payment when unused casual leave is reimbursed. The absence will be recorded as casual leave.

J. Sickness and Accident Insurance

- 1. All employees who have completed one (1) year of continuous service shall be eligible for Sickness and Accident Insurance Benefits. One year of continuous service shall mean 12 consecutive calendar months for which an employee is paid for a minimum of eighteen days. The Sickness and Accident benefit shall be fifty percent (50%) of standard gross pay at time of disability.
- 2. An employee shall continue to be eligible for the following fringe benefits while collecting Sickness and Accident Insurance:
 - a. All medical insurance
 - b. Death benefits and life insurance:
 - c. Service time for pension accrual, vacations, longevity and unused sick leave payments
 - d. Seniority.
- 3. The rules and regulations regarding the administration of the Sickness and Accident Insurance program are as set forth in the supplemental agreement covering Sickness and Accident and Extended Disability Benefit Insurance.

K. Extended Disability Benefit Insurance

- 1. All employees who have completed three (3) years of continuous service shall be eligible for Extended Disability Benefit Insurance. A year of continuous service shall be twelve (12) consecutive months for which an employee is paid for a minimum of eighteen days. The benefit shall be fifty percent (50%) of standard gross pay at time of disability.
- 2. An employee shall be eligible for the following fringe benefits while collecting Extended Disability Benefit Insurance:
 - a. All medical insurance:
 - b. Death benefit plan;
 - c. Service time for pension accrual if the disability is duty related;
 - d. Seniority shall continue to accrue for the purposes of picking vacations, holidays, and work preferences within the Department of Transportation.
- The rules and regulations regarding the administration of Extended Disability Benefit
 Insurance shall be as set forth in the supplemental agreement covering Sickness and
 Accident and Extended Disability Benefit Insurance.

45. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

A. Eligibility for Service Retirement Allowance - Any employee who is covered by the provisions of this Agreement and who is a member of the General Retirement System of the City of Detroit who later has thirty (30) or more years of credited service may retire upon their written application filed with the Board of Trustees setting forth the date, which shall not be less than thirty nor more than ninety days, subsequent to the execution and filing of said written application, they desires to be retired. On the date so specified for his/her retirement he/she shall be retired notwithstanding that pending such period of notification he/she may have separated from City service. Upon his/her retirement they shall receive a Retirement Allowance as provided by the City Charter and Municipal Code. Employees may retire on or after July 1, 1992, with 25 years of credited service but less than 30 and receive an actuarially reduced pension which shall be known as the Actuarially Reduced 25 Year Option of the Retirement Plan. Employees who are receiving a duty or a non-duty disability pension or Income Protection benefits may elect to convert to this new option if they otherwise meet the qualifications.

The above paragraph notwithstanding, employees hired after November 15, 1996, shall not be eligible for a Service Retirement until they shall have attained fifty-five (55) years of age. The age requirement shall apply to both the Regular Service Retirement with thirty (30) years of service and the Early Service Retirement (actuarially reduced) with twenty-five (25) or more years of service.

Employees who have resigned with 25 or more years of service since July 1, 1992, shall have ninety (90) days to submit an application for this option from the date they are officially notified by the Pension Bureau that said application can be processed.

After the initial enrollment of applicants by the Pension Bureau, employees who subsequently leave City employment shall have ninety (90) days from their last paid date on the City payroll to select this option.

Retirees who began receiving a Duty or Non-Duty Disability Pension after July 1, 1992, may convert to this option no later than ninety (90) days after they would have had twenty-five (25) years with the City and have been notified by the Pension Bureau of the availability of this option.

Employees who began receiving Income Protection Benefits after July 1, 1992, may convert to this option anytime after they have had twenty-five (25) years of service with the City.

- B. Retirement benefits shall be modified to include an optional coordination of benefits between regular retirement benefits and Social Security benefits for those employees who retire from the City with a regular retirement or the Actuarially Reduced 25 Year Option prior to becoming eligible for Social Security payments. Such coordination of benefits shall cause an approximate leveling of total monthly benefits derived from both the City's retirement system and Social Security without creating any additional actuarial costs.
- C. For employees hired on or after July 1, 1980, the vesting provisions of the City Retirement Plan shall require ten (10) years of service regardless of age in lieu of the "40 and 8" age and service requirement.
- D. For employees who separate from City service with a vested pension prior to reaching eligibility for a regular service retirement, time earned after July 1, 1988, shall not be factored into the formula for determining their pension benefit until they shall have attained age 62. This provision will not affect the current practice governing disabled employees.
 - In the event that any law, state or federal is passed during the term of this Agreement which permits employees to vest their pension prior to meeting the vesting requirements set forth in this contract, any employee who vests his/her pension in such a manner shall not be eligible for any pension benefits until his/her sixty-second (62nd) birthday.
- E. Employees who become eligible for a pension under the vesting provisions of the plan, shall be ineligible for any of the hospital, medical, optical or dental benefits provided for other retirees, spouses, dependents or beneficiaries.
- F. Employee contributions to the general retirement annuity fund shall be optional. Balances in the fund standing to the individual credit of employees discontinuing contribution shall be maintained with accumulated interest to be paid out to the employee upon separation from the City. Employees qualified under the pension vesting provision of the general retirement system may withdraw their annuity with accumulated interest upon separation.

Upon attainment of twenty-five (25) years of service, an employee shall be eligible to withdraw, one time only prior to retirement, all or part of his/her annuity savings.

Non-Duty and Duty Disability Retirees shall be eligible to withdraw, one time only, all or part of their annuity savings.

- G. Retirement, members of the general City pension system may elect an option which shall entitle them to change their pension option from either option 2 or option 3 to a straight life pension after they have commenced collection of the pension if the member's beneficiary predeceases the member. This shall be known as the Pop-Up Option. The actuarial cost of the change in benefit shall be borne by the member who selects this change in his/her option election.
- H. Employees who retire on or after July 1, 1998, shall have their pensions computed according to the following formula. Using the highest paid 36 consecutive months out of the last 120, including longevity payments, as Average Final Compensation; 1.6% of Average Final Compensation for each year of service for the first 10 years; 1.8% of Average Final Compensation for each year of service greater than 10 years up to 20 years, 2.0% of Average Final Compensation for each year of service greater than 20 years up to 25 years; and 2.2% of Average Final Compensation for each year of service greater than 25 years; plus \$12 for each year of City service not to exceed \$120. In no case shall benefits paid by the Retirement System exceed ninety percent (90%) of Average Final Compensation except in the case where a higher pension amount has been earned in accordance with the provisions in effect prior to July 1, 1992.
- I. Effective for bargaining unit members who retire on or after July 1, 1999, they shall have the option to 1) select the Unused Sick Leave On Retirement payment benefit provided for in Article 44 of this labor agreement or 2) chose to receive twenty-five percent (25%) of the unused accrued sick leave bank provided in Article 44 and have that sum included in the average final compensation used to compute the membership service pension portion of their retirement allowance. For any member choosing to exercise this option the lump sum payment the member will receive will be the remaining value of the unused accrued sick leave bank as provided in Article 44.
- J. Effective January 1, 1999, the maximum annual amount payable to an individual on a Duty Disability pension shall be increased to \$9,000 and for Non-Duty Disability pension to \$6,000.
 - The maximum amount of the Accidental Death Benefit as found in Chapter VI, Article VI, Part C, Section 1, Paragraphs B and C of the City Charter shall be increased to \$9,000 per annum.
- K. Effective January 1, 1999, minor dependents under age 19 or permanently mentally or physically impaired dependent children who become impaired prior to age 19 of employees who die with 20 years of service without a surviving spouse shall receive a payment of \$9,000 per year which shall be divided equally amongst all eligible dependents. The payment will cease when the last minor attains age 19 or for mentally or physically impaired children at death. There shall be no retirement escalator for this payment.
- L. In addition to in-service death pension benefits which already exist for employees with 20 or more years of service, effective July 1, 1998, if a bargaining unit member dies after having attained 15 or more but less than 20 years of creditable service at any age below 60, the surviving spouse will be paid a 50% joint and survivor election. Dependent children, if there is no eligible surviving spouse, are to be paid a total of \$6,000 which shall be divided equally

amongst all eligible dependents until the youngest child reaches age 19, or for life if a child is permanently physically or mentally impaired.

- M. The post retirement escalator factor shall increase from 2.0% to 2.25% of original base pension effective July 1, 1992.
- N. Employees shall have the option of selecting from two additional surviving beneficiary options of 25% and 75%.
- O. Annuity Contribution Amounts: The City will offer to employees who choose to contribute to the annuity plan the option of 3% up to the Social Security maximum salary which would then be increased to 5%, a straight 5%, or a straight 7%.
- P. Members of the bargaining unit shall have the option of belonging to the City's current defined benefit/defined contribution retirement plan or a new defined contribution retirement plan in accordance with the rules the City will issue for a defined contribution plan. The parties agree that the defined contribution plan the Executive Branch will propose for acceptance by the City Council, although not specifically detailed at this time, is intended to be primarily in accordance with the provisions which were last advocated by the Executive Branch in November-December, 1997.
- Q. Effective April 29, 2000, or the earliest date thereafter when all required agreements are reached between the City and other parties, the membership of the General Retirement System, Board of Trustees [Article II, Section 2, Subsection (1)] shall be modified to provide that one of the trustees is: "The Mayor of the City or his/her designated representative, exofficio. Such designated person shall be a full time appointive or classified City employee."
- R. All Retirement and Pension Plan Provisions provided for by the City Charter and Municipal Code are incorporated herein by referral unless otherwise specifically modified by this Agreement and Ordinance 2-93, J.C.C. Page 133.

46. DEATH BENEFITS AND LIFE INSURANCE

NOTE: The coverage period and supplemental life insurance coverage (Options 1 & 2) shall be modified in accordance with the Memorandum of Understanding RE: The Human Resources/ Payroll Benefit System.

A. DEATH BENEFITS

Death benefits for all regular City employees are authorized by the City Charter, Title IX, Chapter VIII. The City Code, Chapter 13, Article 8, currently provides a death benefit of \$10,000.00.

1. MEMBERSHIP:

Mandatory for regular employees.

2. CONTRIBUTIONS:

By the City - \$13.30 per year per employee. By the employee twenty cents per week or \$10.40 per year.

If during the term of this Agreement, the Employee Benefit Board recommends a change in the above amount, the parties will negotiate regarding such recommendation.

- B. Payment for employees killed or permanently disabled in line of duty:
 - 1. A lump sum duty death benefit of \$10,000 will be paid to the beneficiaries or estate of employees who are killed or who die as a direct result of injuries sustained in the actual performance of their duties.
 - 2. A lump sum payment of \$10,000 will be made to any employee who is totally and permanently disabled from illness or injury arising solely out of the actual performance of their duties. "Totally and permanently disabled" shall be defined exclusively as follows:
 - a. Total and permanent loss of sight of both eyes.
 - b. Loss of both legs or both feet at/or above the ankle.
 - c. Loss of both arms or both hands at/or above the wrist.
 - d. Loss of any two of the members of facilities enumerated in (a), (b) and (c)
 - e. Permanent and complete paralysis of both legs or both arms or one leg and one arm.
 - f. Incurable insanity or imbecility.

A claimant to benefits under this paragraph shall have the right to present any written information in support of the claim which shall become part of the records reviewed by the physician appointed by the Finance Director and the Medical Board of Inquiry, should a Board of Inquiry be formed.

The Finance Director shall appoint a physician who shall examine the medical records and findings and with respect to rights of claimants the physician may also personally examine the claimant. Said physician shall within sixty (60) days of appointment file a written report regarding his medical findings which report shall include a recommendation as to whether or not the claimant is entitled to the benefits.

Should either the claimant or the Finance Director disagree with the medical findings of the physician so appointed and the claim for benefits is denied, the claimant or the Finance Director must so indicate to the other in writing the demand for a Medical Board of Inquiry. The Medical Board of Inquiry shall consist of three (3) physicians or surgeons appointed by the Wayne County Medical Society. The Medical Board of Inquiry shall examine all medical findings and within sixty (60) days of its formation shall file with the Finance Director a written report of its findings, which as to the benefits provided herein shall be final and binding as to the medical findings. The Finance Director shall pay the fees of the physician named by them and the fees of any Medical Board of Inquiry formed.

3. Employees who receive a permanent disability payment under this section shall be ineligible for the \$10,000 Duty Death Benefit described in Section B-1 above.

C. GROUP LIFE INSURANCE:

A group life insurance program for the employee and their family is available for all members of the Employees Benefit Plan on an optional basis, under the provisions of the City Code, Chapter 13, Article 9.

- 1. Membership Optional for members of the Employees Benefit Plan.
- 2. **Contributions** The City shall pay approximately sixty percent (60%) of the premium for insurance up to and including \$12,500. The employee shall pay forty percent (40%) of the premium for insurance up to and including \$12,500. The employee shall pay the full cost of any insurance in excess of \$12,500.

3. Benefits - Employees:

Yearly Pay	Amount of Insurance
Under \$5,000	\$ 3,750
\$5,000 to \$7,500	\$ 6,205
\$7,500 to \$10,000	\$ 9,375
Over \$10,000	\$12,500

4. Additional life insurance inclusive of the \$12,500 of insurance shown above is available through this plan at the employee's expense as follows:

Yearly Pay	Amount of Insurance
\$12,500 to \$15,000	\$15,000
\$15,000 to \$17,500	\$17,500
\$17,500 to \$20,000	\$20,000
\$20,000 to \$22,500	\$22,500
\$22,500 to \$25,000	\$25,000
\$25,000 to \$27,500	\$27,500
\$27,500 to \$30,000	\$30,000
\$30,000 to \$32,500	\$32,500
\$32,500 and above	\$35,000

5. BENEFITS - DEPENDENTS:

a.) For employees hired prior to December 21, 1973

25 cents per week \$1,500 each dependent 70 cents per week \$5,000 each dependent

b.) For employees hired on or after December 21, 1973

70 cents per week \$5,000 each dependent

D. (1) Employees will be able to purchase insurance which is approximately equal to their annual salary or they may choose to purchase insurance which is approximately equal to two times their annual salaries in accordance with the following:

	Amount of Insurance	Amount of Insurance
Yearly Pay	Option 1	Option 2
\$12,500 to \$15,000	\$15,000	\$30,000
\$15,000 to \$17,500	\$17,500	\$35,000
\$17,500 to \$20,000	\$20,000	\$40,000
\$20,000 to \$22,500	\$22,500	\$45,000
\$22,500 to \$25,000	\$25,000	\$50,000
\$25,000 to \$27,500	\$27,500	\$55,000
\$27,500 to \$30,000	\$30,000	\$60,000
\$30,000 to \$32,500	\$32,500	\$65,000
\$32,500 and above	\$35,000	\$70,000
And so forth in	And so forth in	And so forth in
\$2,500 increments	\$2,500 increments	\$5,000 increments

(2) Subject to the agreement of and conditions determined by the current life insurance carrier, retirees shall have the option of converting all or part of their group life insurance to a life insurance policy at their own expense. Also, subject to the above conditions, employees who resign may continue their current coverage at their own expense. For retirees who elect to retain this coverage, the City shall deduct the premiums from their retirement checks on a monthly basis.

47. RIGHTS OF EMPLOYEES ENTERING OR RETURNING FROM ARMED FORCES

The rights of employees entering or returning from armed forces shall be in accordance with Chapter 13, Article 5 of the Municipal Code of the City of Detroit.

48. LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- A. Leaves of Absence without pay may be granted for reasonable periods for the purposes listed below.
 - 1. Temporary physical or mental incapacity.
 - 2. Training relating to an employee's regular duties in an approved educational institution.
 - 3. Military service.
 - 4. Purposes and conditions consistent with the Family Medical Leave Act.
 - 5. Leaves of absence may be granted for other reasons than those listed above where in the judgement of the City such leaves are deemed beneficial to the City.
- B. To be eligible for a leave of absence, the employee must have completed one (1) year of continuous classified service immediately prior to the leave. This requirement shall not apply to leaves for military service.

- C. Leaves of absence (excluding military) may be extended for periods up to two (2) years. After two years, the person's name may be placed on the preferred eligible list for an additional two (2) years. Seniority of persons on leave of absence shall be governed by the Seniority Section of this Agreement.
- D. Unless otherwise provided for, the procedure for the administration of this Section shall be in accordance with Human Resources Department Rules.

49. SUCCESSOR CLAUSE

This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto, their successors, administrators, executors and assigns. In the event an entire operation or any separable, independent segment thereof is sold, leased, transferred or taken over by sale, transfer, lease, assignment receivership or bankruptcy proceeding, such operation shall continue to be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement for the life thereof.

50. OVERTIME PROVISIONS OF THE STATE MINIMUM WAGE LAW

This Contract is negotiated and agreed to between the parties with the recognition that the effect of the application of the overtime provisions of the State Minimum Wage Law and the Fair Labor Standards Act to public transportation systems may impact the provisions of this Agreement. To the extent that the overtime provision of the State Minimum Wage Law and the Fair Labor Standards Act affects any section(s) or provision(s) of this Agreement, the affected section(s) or provision(s) shall be renegotiated by the parties to this Agreement.

51. SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any Article or Section of this Agreement or any Supplement thereto, should be held invalid by operation of Law or by any Tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with or enforcement of any Article or Section should be restrained by such Tribunal, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby, and the parties shall enter into immediate collective bargaining negotiations for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement only for those Articles or Sections affected.

52. INTERFERENCE WITH WORK

The Union agrees to refrain from engaging, or participating in any strike, work-stoppage or slowdown or participating in any activity for the purpose of interfering with the operations of the Employer during the term of this Agreement.

The Employer will not lock out any employee during the term of this Agreement. However, if equipment or facilities are unavailable for a member of this bargaining unit to work due to a strike, work stoppage, slowdown or other interference by other employees, such unavailability shall not be deemed a lockout under the terms of this Section nor shall the employee affected be considered striking or refusing to work.

Employees in the Unit are not subject to disciplinary action for refusing to cross a picket line of another union, if such action could endanger the personal safety of the employees, provided that such refusal shall in no way be detrimental to the public health or safety.

The City shall not, however, be obliged to pay the wages of employees who do not work.

53. NONDISCRIMINATION

It is agreed by the City and the Union that the City is legally and morally obligated to provide equality of opportunity, consideration, and treatment of all employees of the City and, accordingly, to establish policies and regulations that will insure such equality of opportunity, consideration, and treatment of all persons employed in the bargaining unit in all phases of the employment process, without regard to race, color, creed, national origin, age, political orientation, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, or non-disabling handicap, except where based on a bona fide occupational qualification in accordance with applicable State and Federal laws.

54. PROTECTION CLAUSE

It is the City's commitment that in terms of a total compensation package, the bargaining unit will not be economically disadvantaged as a result of subsequent settlements with other unions. However, it must be understood that compulsory arbitration may result in varied settlements.

55. MAINTENANCE OF CONDITIONS

Wages, hours, conditions of employment and current proper practices which are beneficial to the employees at the execution of this Agreement, shall, except as provided and improved herein, be maintained during the term of this Agreement. Changes must be mutually agreed upon by the City and the Union.

NOTE: During the course of negotiations there was considerable discussion as to the interpretation and intent of Article 55. The parties agree that Article 55 is intended to include those proper practices and minor benefits not covered by specific language in the contract.

The parties agree that Article 55 is not intended to conflict with the City's ability and responsibility to manage its affairs.

The parties further agree that Article 55 is not intended to maintain improper practices which may exist in the various operating departments nor is intended to prevent the City from taking appropriate corrective action.

56. ACCIDENT REVIEW BOARD

- 1. The Department shall have an Accident Review Board to investigate all vehicle accidents involving Transportation Equipment Operators (TEO's) occurring with City-owned vehicles.
- 2. The Board shall consist of: a) the DOT Safety Officer, b) a Police Officer from the DPD Traffic Enforcement Division, c) a representative from the Finance Department, Risk Management Division, d) an Executive Board member of ATU, Local 26, e) a representative of AFSCME, Local 312, f) a representative of AFSCME, Local 214, g) a representative of ATU, Local 26 (not an Executive Board member), and h) an additional representative of DOT management. Any member or designee serving of the Accident Review Board must be certified under the Federal Transit Administration through the National Safety Institute in the fundamentals of bus collision investigation.
- 3. The Chairperson of the committee is the DOT Safety Officer who shall cause the Board to convene and conduct its proceedings in an orderly and complete process. The Chairperson shall not be entitled to vote on any decision to be rendered by the Board.
- 4. The Board is charged with fairly considering each case placed before it. All such cases will be presented to the Board anonymously, meaning that the name of the employee shall not be revealed. The decision of the Board is based upon a vote taken for whether the accident is "non-chargeable" or "chargeable" against the employee.
- 5. The Police Officer representative from the DPD Traffic Enforcement Division will not participate in the vote unless the vote rendered by the Board results in a tie. In such a case, the vote of this member will decide the ruling of the Board.
- 6. The existing appeal procedures for decisions of the Board remain unchanged.

57. DURATION OF THE CONTRACT

- A. It is the intent of the parties that this Contract as set forth herein shall remain in effect until June 30, 2008. At least one hundred and twenty (120) days prior to June 30, 2008, the parties will review this contract for the purpose of determining any modification or revisions found desirable or necessary, and negotiations for a new contract will commence thirty (30) days thereafter.
- B. In the event that the department and the union fail to arrive at an agreement on wages, fringe benefits, other monetary matters, and non-economic items by June 30, 2008, this Agreement shall remain in effect on a day to day basis. Either party may terminate the Agreement by giving the other party a ten (10) day written notice on or after June 20, 2008.
- C. Nothing contained in this contract is intended to conflict with the City Charter, the statutes of the State of Michigan or the laws of the United States.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement

Dated This 1342 Day	of Aprel , 2007.
AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION DIVISION 26, AFL-CIO	CITY OF DETROIT
Henry Gaffney	Kylame M. Kilpatrick, Mayor
President / Business Agent Build Milley	Barbara Wine Lamora
Brian K. Miller, Vice President	Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director Labor Relations
Shyr McCormick-Williams	James J. Tyler, Jr., Director
Financial Secretary/Treasurer	Human Resources Department
Melvia R. Owens Recording Secretary	John E. Johnson, Jr., Corporation Counsel Law Department
Marchel Curtis	Roger Short, Chief Financial Officer
Executive Board Member	Finance Department
Rudolph Markoe Executive Board Member	APPROVED AND CONFIRMED BY
Lander without	THE CITY COUNCIL 6-27-07
Fred A. Westbrook, Jr. Executive Board Member	IANICE M. WINFREY CITY CLERK
Mary A! Springfield, Steward	CITICLERA
Glenn Tolbert, Steward	
William D. Williams, Steward	

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Compensation for Unused Casual Leave

Because of the unique nature of public transportation operations and the attendant problems and costs involved when additional time off for employees is encumbered, the parties recognize and agree that the service to the public would be enhanced if unused casual leave which has been converted to vacation were paid in cash rather than scheduling time off for the affected employees. Therefore, for the term of the Agreement between the parties with a beginning date of July 1, 2005, casual leave which is unused at the end of the fiscal year will be paid in cash.

Dated This 13 h Day of April , 2007.

Henry Gaffrey, President

ATU-Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-C10

RE: Overtime

Notwithstanding, that in some sections of this Agreement the language having been adapted from a time when daily overtime rules applied, at no time shall the overtime rates be applicable until after an operator has worked more than forty (40) hours in a workweek.

Dated This 134 Day of Upul, 2007.

Henry Gaffiney, President ATU- Div. 26, AFL-CIO Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Union Input Into Scheduling

During negotiations the parties recognized that many problems which face the Department of Transportation and its employees may be impacted to some degree by innovative scheduling and that Local 26 could have valuable input into such scheduling. Toward that end, the Department agrees to meet with Local 26 and afford it an opportunity for problem solving scheduling innovations at the Department of Transportation.

Accordingly, the parties agree to form a joint union/management committee to explore ways to develop greater efficiency in the delivery of transportation services. Items for consideration may include block runs, rostering, trippers and other issues which may impact service.

Dated This 13th Day of april 2007.

Henry Gaffiney, President

ATU-Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Vacation Allocations

It is recognized by the parties that the period beginning with school closed schedules in June and ending with school open schedules in September is the period when vacation time is most desirable. It is also recognized by the parties that scheduling of vacations beyond the differences in manpower requirements of the school open and school closed schedules involves the costly addition of manpower to the work force. The problem, however, is lessened as the availability of coaches and manpower are improved and the parties are involved in improving both. To address the entire matter, the parties agree to:

- 1. Maintain the present level of vacation allocations, which is 4.75% of the work force during school open schedules and 8% of the work force during school closed schedules. (These are department-wide percentages which may not apply to each individual terminal.)
- 2. To meet each year prior to determination or posting of vacation schedules, picks, or notices thereof. Such meetings will be held for the purpose of determining whether the level of vacation allocations may be changed as a result of improvements in availability of coaches and manpower.

Dated This 13 4 Day of Assis 2007.

Henry Gaffiley, President

ATU- Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Determination of a Suitable Retirement Memento

During negotiations of the contract between the parties to be effective July 1, 2005, the union expressed dissatisfaction with the watch which is presented to retirees. The parties hereby agree to establish a committee to determine a more suitable retirement memento. The committee will be comprised of two (2) representatives each of the Department of Transportation and the Union which will agree upon a replacement for the watch which is now presented to retirees. The watch presentation will continue until a suitable replacement is agreed upon by the parties.

Dated This 134 Day of April , 2007.

Henry Gaffney, President

ATU-Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Copies of the Contract

The City agrees to pay to Division 26 of the Amalgamated Transit Union a sum of \$2,000 for printing copies of the Contract.

The Union agrees to furnish the City 500 copies of the contract without charge.

Dated This 13 4 Day of 4000 2007.

Henry Gafffley, President

ATU- Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Special Rules Regarding Sickness and Accident Benefits

It is agreed between the parties that:

- 1. All time off under the 50% Sickness and Accident program or the 50% Extended Disability program will automatically be supplemented by any Sick Leave balances which an employee may have so as to insure 100% of pay.
- 2. Casual Leave time or Vacation time will not automatically be used as a supplement to either the Sickness and Accident program or the Extended Disability program.
- 3. Individuals on Sickness and Accident who have exhausted all Sick Leave balances may elect to have their off time supplemented by Casual Leave and/or Vacation. In order to have such supplementation, the individual must so request in writing to the Department of Transportation Human Resources office. Casual Leave in these cases will be used and exhausted first before Vacation time is utilized.
- 4. The contract states that employees who shall have completed six (6) months on the payroll and three (3) months of continuous service shall be granted seven (7) days of casual leave on July 1st of any one fiscal year provided they are on the payroll on that date. Therefore, if someone goes off sick on July 2nd they would be entitled to their Casual Leave Days for the fiscal year beginning July 1st even though they do not return to work during the same fiscal year. They would not be eligible for the bonus of two (2) casual days, however, since they would not be on the payroll on July 1st of the succeeding fiscal year. The Casual Leave the employees had as of the day they went on Long Term Disability would be forfeited unless the employee returns to work before the beginning of the next fiscal year.
- 5. The waiting period begins on the first full regular scheduled work day that an employee misses work. Actual scheduled work days will be used to determine the elimination period for the current work week (Saturday Friday) starting with the first day off sick. With completion of the work week in which the first day of sickness occurs, the work week will be switched to a Monday through Friday work week. In no case, however, will an employee be credited with more than five days, which may consist of work days, S & A days or elimination days in any week. An employee would not be eligible for a S & A payment, however, until such time as they are under treatment by a physician. Therefore, if employees fail to see a physician until after the mandated five day waiting period, they would not receive any S & A benefits until the day they receive treatment and are judged unable to work by their physician.
- 6. The definition of a month of service is a calendar month in which an employee is paid for eighteen (18) or more days on the Department of Transportation payroll.

- JMS Administrators has agreed that in the event the Detroit Industrial Clinic notifies them an employee is able to return to work on a Friday, the employee will not be told to return to work until Monday. The employees so ordered will remain on a Monday through Friday work schedule for the week in which they return to do work.
- Written notice of an illness shall consist of a written statement (verified by a doctor) from an employee that they are ill, delivered to the Department of Transportation Human Resources office within ten (10) consecutive calendar days of the first day off sick. Unless completely incapacitated for a majority of this ten (10) day period, benefit days will be lost until notice of illness is received at the Department of Transportation Human Resources Office. Employees will still be eligible for up to twenty (20) weeks of S & A benefits from date notice is given, providing proof of illness is provided as specified in the contract. The notice shall be signed by the employee unless they are unable to do so because of the nature of their illness.
- An employee who fulfills the ten-day written notification requirement will not lose S & A benefits for failure to provide medical proof of illness except in those instances where they fail to furnish JMS Administrators proof within ninety (90) days after the termination of the period for which weekly benefits are payable under the plan.
- An employee who returns from Long Term Disability (LTD) status and works for a period less than three (3) months and become ill again with the same illness reverts back to LTD status. Benefits are suspended during the time they returned to work.
- Full time paid union officials are eligible for Casual Leave, S & A and LTD benefits to the extent they were eligible for Sick Leave benefits.
- If an employee fails to fulfill the requirements in the contract regarding notification, or physician's care, benefits will commence as of the day that the employee fulfills those conditions. Benefits will, however, be forfeited if proof of illness is not furnished as discussed in item #9 of this communication.
- Casual leave will not be used to supplement S & A payments unless the employee so requests. This ruling applies to occupational injury cases also. Casual leave will, however, be used to pay for absences due to illness, accident, or other unscheduled absences not covered by S & A benefits. This ruling applies to instances which are occupational in nature also.

In addition to the above, we wish to advise you that when employees are judged able to return to work by Detroit Industrial Clinic, they will be so notified by telephone and telegram. Sickness and Accident Benefits will be paid through the date specified in the telegram as the last day of coverage. The telegram will be sent to the employee's last known address on file with JMS Administrators. Employees found to be disabled by Detroit Industrial Clinic will be notified by JMS Administrators of their continuing disabled status and informed as to when further medical verification will be required from the employee's doctor by JMS Administrators.

Henry Gaffney, President

ATU-Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Dated This 134 Day of April 2007.

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Operators Repeatedly Required to Work Foreign Lines

During negotiations there was considerable discussion about the problem of an operator being repeatedly pulled from the run they picked and sent to work on a foreign line. Both parties, recognizing the undesirability of being removed from one's picked runs and also recognizing the need to be able to adjust service, have agreed to the following procedure:

When an operator is repeatedly removed from their picked run and brings it to the attention of their Union Representative, the Union Representative will bring the matter to the attention of the District Superintendent or Assistant District Superintendent. The Union and Management Representatives shall meet at the terminal level to identify the problem which necessitated pulling the operator from his picked run and to identify alternative solutions to the service adjustment problem.

Dated This 1344 Day of April 2007.

Henry Gaffiney, President

ATU-Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: The City and the Union agree that the following shall Supplement Section 38 of this Agreement.

- A. Definition: "Base". The term base means the amount of health insurance premium paid by the City as set forth in Section 38.
- B. The amount of the health insurance premium payable by the City, including base and the City's share above base, shall be paid to a health insurance carrier designated by the Union. The Union will negotiate with that carrier on all matters relating to payment of health insurance premiums.
- C. The City will surcharge employees each month for the employee's share of health insurance premiums. The amount of the surcharge is defined by Section 38. The City may increase the amount of the surcharge once per year, if justified by premium increases. The increase may take effect only following notice by the Union that such change is warranted, or on June 30th, whichever is earlier.
- D. The City shall promptly remit to the Union all rate information received from Blue Cross/Blue Shield or other carrier designated by the Union.

Dated This 13 14 Day of April 2007.

Henry Gaffney, President

ATU-Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Benefit Deductions for Employees on S & A - LTD

The City and the Union agree that employees who are on Sickness and Accident or Long Term disability status shall be allowed to pay for their share of the cost of Death Benefit and Optional Life Insurance through deductions from S & A or LTD benefits.

Dated This 13 th Day of april 2007.

Henry Gaffney, President ATU- Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Improved Regularity in Attendance

In order to maintain and increase worker morale, provide higher quality services, and reduce operational costs, the parties agree to form a committee to work during the term of the labor agreement on new ways and ideas to improve employee's regularity in attendance.

The parties further agree that there will be no changes in the present policy, unless both parties agree to do so, and that the members of the committee representing the Union will be appointed by the President-Business Agent of the Union.

Dated This 13 h Day of april , 2007.

Henry Gaffhey, President ATU- Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Temporary Placement of Employees into Other Duties

The parties agree to form a committee to review and expand the practice of permitting bargaining unit members to be placed into different operational configurations which improve operations and/or reduce costs.

The parties further agree that there will be no changes in the present policy, unless both parties agree to do so, and that the members of the committee representing the Union will be appointed by the President-Business Agent of the Union.

Dated This 13th Day of april , 2007.

Henry Gaffney, President

ATU-Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: City of Detroit FMLA Policy

- A. Effective upon ratification of this agreement the City of Detroit FMLA Policy will be issued to all members of the bargaining unit.
- B. For new employees entering the bargaining unit after ratification of this agreement, a full explanation of the employee's FMLA rights shall be included in the New Employee Orientation.

Dated This 134 Day of april , 2007.

Henry Gaffney, President

ATU-Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Union Representation During Temporary Shutdowns of Terminals for Repair Work

- A. Notwithstanding contract Article 5(B), first sentence, for the period of temporary shutdowns of each of the current bus terminals (Gilbert, Coolidge and Shoemaker), the City agrees that the existing Executive Board member and Steward positions for each terminal will remain intact, even when one of the terminals is temporarily closed, with a portion of the runs from that closed terminal being assigned to the other two terminals remaining open.
- B. In order to maintain representation of the membership as close as possible to what existed before a terminal's temporary closure, the parties will maintain an agreed upon listing of members then working at the two open terminals which constitutes the "Gilbert Drivers", the "Shoemaker Drivers", and the "Coolidge Drivers".
- C. Whenever Union representation issues arise at any then open terminal, a Gilbert Executive Board member or Steward will serve a Gilbert driver issue, a Shoemaker Executive Board member or Steward will serve a Shoemaker driver issue, and a Coolidge Executive Board member or Steward will serve a Coolidge driver issue. It is understood that if maintaining this representation arrangement is highly impractical in a particular situation or would be too disruptive of Department operations, then the Union will work with the Department to provide for the most reasonable representation arrangement available at the time.
- D. The former three garage Safety Committee structure and other typical Union functions will be maintained as closely as possible during this temporary shutdown period.
- E. During this period of temporary shutdowns when only two of the garages are operating, the Union representation elections will be conducted as if the three garages were actually open, and voting will be conducted based on the then existing list of "Gilbert drivers", "Shoemaker drivers", and "Coolidge drivers".
- F. Nothing in this MOU reduces any rights management had prior to its execution. The City acknowledges that the effects of any future decision the Department may make to close a terminal, as opposed to temporary shutdowns, including the issue of the Union's representation arrangements for its membership, will be a subject of bargaining between the parties.

Dated This

Henry Gaffney, President

ATU-Div. 26, AFL-CIO

Day of (1992) , 2007.

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Police Reports

During the course of negotiations, the issue of the procedures used to file a police report in the case of an accident was raised. To resolve this issue, the Department commits by the end of the calendar year to promulgate a policy outlining the procedures to be followed by an Operator when filing a police report in the case of an accident. The policy will include such issues as time limits for filling a report and compensable hours.

Dated This 134 Day of april , 2007.

Henry Gaffiney, President' ATU- Div. 26, AFL-CIO Barbara Wise-Johnson, Director

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: Wage Concessions

While the City acknowledges that it has gained substantial savings from the ATU by reducing the length of time of scheduled runs, its economic situation necessitates that it have the right, where possible, to reduce the standard forty (40) hour work week. Towards this end, the parties agree to continue to meet for the purpose of exploring ways to reduce the standard payroll workweek of the membership by 10% without impacting service delivery to the public. The parties agree that between July1, 2006 and June 30, 2007 any deviation from the standard payroll week must be negotiated. It is understood that such an agreement would require appropriate contract changes, many of which are outlined below. These changes would be effective for a one (1) year period after implementation, and shall immediately revert to their original state at the conclusion of the one (1) year period.

OVERTIME

If an employee is scheduled to work less than 40 hours in a work week, overtime for that work week shall not be payable until the employee works 40 hours in that work week, inclusive of the 6th and 7th day. All other overtime provision shall remain as is.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The temporary period of reduced regular wages shall not be recognized for pension computation purposes and appropriate calculations will be made to have any pension benefits equal the same amount the member would have earned had his or her regular pay not been temporarily reduced.

VACATIONS

Qualifications for earning time are proportionally reduced, and other appropriate modifications are agreed to as necessary to comport with the 10% hours reduction.

SICK LEAVE, CASUAL LEAVE, SICKNESS AND ACCIDENT AND EXTENDED DISABILITY INSURANCE

Qualifications for earning these benefit are proportionally reduced, and other appropriate modifications are agreed to as necessary to comport with the 10% hours reduction.

LONGEVITY PAY

The minimum number of hours needed to qualify for this pay is proportionally reduced.

WORKERS' COMPENSATION

Employees who are working a thirty-six (36) hour work week at the time that they go off on Workers' Compensation shall have their formula for supplementation out of their sick leave banks calculated upon 100% of their take-home pay under the thirty-six (36) hour work week.

HOLIDAYS AND EXCUSED TIME DAYS

The work schedules established by the departments to reflect the reduced work week shall be structured to allow that in those weeks in which a holiday or excused time day occurs, the work day designated as the eight (8) hour work day shall be the holiday or excused time day. If two holidays or excused time days occur in the same work week, the holiday will be designated as the eight (8) hour work day and the excused time day as the seven (7) hour work day. If an employee is required to work either a holiday or an excused time day, payment for such days shall be in accordance with the Master Agreement.

BANKED PAID OFF TIME (Vacation time, Sick time, Casual Leave, Compensatory time, Swing Holidays)

Employees shall continue to accrue banked paid off time in accordance with the Master Agreement. When utilizing paid off time, an employee's banks will be charged with the appropriate number of hours to cover the day or days off.

NON-BANKED PAID OFF TIME (Funeral Leave, Jury Duty, Union Business)

When utilizing non-banked paid off time, an employee will receive payment for the number of hours he or she was scheduled to work on that day(s).

LAY-OFFS DURING THE CONCESSION PERIOD

The City agrees that during the period that the wage concessions is in effect (July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007), no bargaining unit employee who is on payroll as of July 1, 2006 will be laid off from City employment. Excluded from this "no layoff guarantee" are normal and customary seasonal layoffs, and positions lost due to the termination of resources for grant-funded positions or for the occurrence of conditions beyond the control of the City.

HEALTH CARE BENEFITS PLANS

The City agrees that should it reach it an agreement with another non-Act 312 labor organization on a health care benefit plan that is more advantageous to the employee, such plan will be implemented for members of this Union.

Dated This 13 th Day of April , 2007.

FOR THE UNION:

Henry Gaffine'y, President

Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 26

FOR THE CITY:

Barbara Wise-Johnson, Directói

BETWEEN THE

CITY OF DETROIT

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

DIVISION 26, AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, AFL-CIO

RE: City Alternative Health Care Plan

- 1. This "City Alternative Health Care Plan" is conditioned upon the City achieving the specific cost saving objectives professionally-estimated and calculated to result from the implementation of all of the features contained in this proposal and based on beginning at the of the FY 2006 2007 benefit year. The health care benefit plan changes specified in the attached document will be effective, July 1, 2006. The corresponding open enrollment for the purposes of implementing this "Alternative Health Care Plan" must begin in April 2006 and conclude by May 15, 2006. The attached "Alternative City Health Care Proposal" must be TA'd through the negotiation process and ratified by the union membership in sufficient time to meet this implementation schedule.
- 2. Contribution Structure: Effective with the coverage plan year beginning July 1, 2006, the employee's contribution towards the component premiums (i.e., one person, two persons, family), for the BC PPO plan shall be capped at 10% of the monthly premium, and for all HMO plans capped at 20% of the monthly premium. If the Blue Cross/Blue Shield Traditional plan as modified by the new plan design, continues to be offered as an option, it will be offered under the current premium sharing arrangement.
- 3. Effective with the Family Continuation Verification Period for the coverage plan year beginning July 1, 2006, in addition to the existing family continuation requirements, employees insuring family continuation dependents must also provide proof the dependent is enrolled in an accredited school as a full-time student in order for that dependent to be eligible for continued coverage.
- 4. Employees insuring sponsored dependents under any plan shall continue to pay the entire premium for this coverage.
- 5. Effective with the coverage plan year that begins on or after July 1, 2006, in order to be eligible for coverage under all City of Detroit health care plans, all active employees and their dependents who are eligible for Medicare due to certain medical conditions as defined by Medicare must enroll in Medicare Parts A and B.

Such enrollment in Medicare shall not result in any reduction in benefits or additional cost to the employee, in that the employee shall be reimbursed that amount paid for Medicare after submission of required proof of payment. (This benefit does not apply to retirees or dependents covered under the City retiree's health care contract. Currently, all retirees and their dependents who are eligible for Medicare regardless of age must enroll in Medicare Parts A and B at their own expense to be eligible for continued coverage, and this provision shall remain unchanged and applicable to all persons who retire in the future.)

- 6. Effective with the implementation of the new HR/Payroll and Benefit System:
- A. Health care and life insurance coverage start and end dates shall be as follows:

Hospitalization: Coverage begins on the first day of the first full pay period, and ends on the last day of the month that employment ends.

Dental: Coverage begins on the first of the month following the employee working six months, and ends on the last day of the month that employment ends.

Optical: Coverage begins on the first of the month following 60 days of service, and ends on the last day of the month that employment ends.

Life Insurance and Death Benefit: Coverage begins on the first day of the first full pay period, and ends on the last day of the month that employment ends.

- B. **Supplemental Life Insurance Coverage:** Employees may opt for additional coverage up to either their actual salary or double their actual salary, rounded up to the nearest thousand. This would replace the Option 1 and Option 2 schedules for additional life insurance found in the Death Benefit and Life Insurance Article of the Master Agreement.
- C. Opt-Out Program: Employees will receive a monthly stipend.
- D. **Pre-Tax Medical Premiums:** The employee's share of medical premiums will be shown and paid on a pre-tax basis.
- E. **Employee Payroll Deductions:** Payroll deductions will be taken out equally during every pay cycle.

In addition to the above noted provisions, the parties will continue to work collaboratively toward establishing cost saving measures for medical, dental, optical and life insurance plans as well as resolve issues that may arise with the implementation of the new HR/Payroll and Benefit System.

	BCBSM	PPO Plan		
	In-Network Benefits		Out-of-Network Benefits	
Plan Design	Current Plan	Alternative Plan	Current Plan	Alternative Plan
General Plan Information				
Annual Deductible/Individual	\$0	\$175	\$250	\$425
Annual Deductible/Family	2x individual	2x individual	2x individual	2x individual
	deductible	deductible	deductible	deductible
Coinsurance (Outpatient only)	100%	90%	80%	70%
Office Visit/Exam	\$5 copay	\$10 copay, then 100%	D&C	D&C
Outpatient Mental Health/Substance Abuse	90%/50%	90%/50%	80%/50%	70%/50%
Annual Out-of-Pocket Limit/Individual	None	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$2,000
Annual Out-of-Pocket	None	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$4,000
Limit/Family	***************************************			
Inpatient Hospitalization	100%	100%	80%	70%
Emergency Room (copay waived if admitted)	\$50 copay	\$75 copay, then 100%	\$50 copay	\$75 copay, then 100%
Urgent Care Facility	100%	\$10 copay, then 100%	D&C	D&C
Hospital Admission Deductible	None	None	None	None
	D	41 B		
	=	tion Drug ts Retail		
Generic	\$5	\$5	75% less copay	Not covered
Brand (Singlesource/Formulary)	\$10	\$15	75% less copay	Not Covered
Brand (Multisource/Non-	\$10 \$10	\$15	75% less copay	Not Covered
formulary)	ψιυ	ΨΙΟ	romicas copay	1101 GOVERGU
Number of Days Supply	30 days	30 days	30 days	30 days
		Order		,
Generic	\$5	\$10	Not covered	Not Covered
Brand (Singlesource/Formulary)	\$10	\$30	Not covered	Not Covered
Brand (Multisource/Non- formulary)	\$10	\$30	Not covered	Not covered
Number of Days Supply for Mail Order	90 days	90 days	90 days	n.a.

BCN, HAP and THC HMO Plans						
Plan Design	Current Plan	Alternative Plan				
General Plan Information						
Office Visit Copay	None	\$ 10 Copay				
Inpatient Admission Copay	None	None				
Emergency Room (Copay waived if admitted)	None	\$ 75 Copay, then 100%				
Urgent Care Copay	None	\$10 Copay				
Outpatient MH/SA Copay	None	\$10 Copay				
Prescription Drug Benefits Retail						
Generic	\$3	\$5				
Brand (Single source/Formulary)	\$3	\$15				
Brand (Multi-source/Non-Formulary)	\$3	\$15				
Number of Days Supply	30 days	30 days				
Mail Order						
Generic	\$3	\$10				
Brand (Single source/Formulary)	\$3	\$30				
Brand (Multi-source/Non-Formulary)	\$3	\$30				
Number of Days Supply for Mail Order	90 days	90 days				

BCBSM Traditional Plan					
Plan Design	Current Plan	Alternative Plan			
General Plan Information	- <u> </u>				
Annual Deductible/Individual	\$50	\$175			
Annual Deductible/Family	2x individual deductible	2x individual			
Office Visit/Exam	80%	deductible			
Outpatient Specialist Visit	80%	80% 80%			
Annual Out-of-Pocket	\$1,000				
Limit/Individual	21,000	\$1,000			
Annual Out-of-Pocket Limit/Family	\$2,000	\$2,000			
Lifetime Plan Maximum	\$1,000,000	\$1,000,000			
		<u> </u>			
Inpatient Ho	spital Services				
Inpatient Hospitalization	100%	100%			
Semi-Private Room & Board; Including Services and Supplies	100%	100%			
Emergency Services (Copay waived if admitted)	100%	\$75 copay then 100%			
Urgent Care	100%	80%			
Hospital Admission Deductible	None	None			
Prescription Dr	ug Benefits Ret	tail			
Generic	\$3	\$5			
Brand (Singlesource/Formulary)	\$3	\$15			
Brand (Multisource/Non- Formulary)	\$3	\$15			
Number of Days Supply	30 days	30 days			
Mai	l Order				
Generic	\$3	\$10			
Brand (Singlesource/Formulary)	\$3	\$30			
Brand (Multisource/Non- formulary)	\$3	\$30			
Number of Days Supply for Mail Order	90 days	90 days			

APPENDIX A

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT RELATIVE TO SICKNESS AND ACCIDENT AND LONG TERM -DISABILITY BENEFITS

SICKNESS AND ACCIDENT BENEFITS:

(a) Eligibility for Benefits

- (1) If while insured for these benefits, an employee becomes wholly and continuously disabled as a result of any injury or sickness so as to be prevented thereby from performing any and every duty of their occupation, and during the period of such disability is under treatment therefore by a physician legally licensed to practice medicine, the amount of weekly benefits for which the employee is then insured shall be paid to the employee each week during the period they are so disabled and under such treatment. Notwithstanding the above, Sickness and Accident Benefits shall be payable to an employee who becomes wholly and continuously disabled as a result of undergoing surgery for sterilization purposes, or becomes confined as a registered bed patient in a legally constituted hospital for the purpose of undergoing testing to determine their suitability to be donor for an organ or tissue transplant and, in either case, is otherwise eligible for such benefits.
- (2) Sickness and Accident Benefits shall not be paid for any day for which an employee receives holiday pay.
- (3) For new hires, preexisting conditions shall not be covered. The Union shall be held harmless by the City in any lawsuit regarding a dispute arising out of preexisting conditions language in the agreement.

(b) Duration and Commencement of Benefits

- (1) Sickness and Accident Benefits shall be payable during total disability for a period not to exceed twenty (20) weeks, for any one continuous period of disability, whether from one or more causes, or for successive periods of disability due to the same or related cause or causes.
- (2) The waiting period for sickness or accident shall be seven (7) calendar days. The waiting period for hospital confinement shall be five (5) calendar days, except when hospital confinement extends five (5) days or more, then benefits shall begin with the first day of hospitalization.

(c) Basis for Daily Benefit Payments

Any Sickness and Accident Benefits due for a period other than a whole week shall be paid on the basis of one-fifth of the weekly benefit for each scheduled day of five (5) day work week, the employee is disabled and misses work.

(d) Benefits for More Than One Absence

- (1) If an employee returns to work after receiving Sickness and Accident Benefits for less than twenty (20) weeks and is again absent within three (3) months for the same reason or some disability related to it, there is no waiting period for the rest of the twenty (20) weeks' period, if the employee is disabled that long.
- (2) If the second absence results from a different kind of sickness or injury, the first absence does not affect any possible future benefits. If there are three (3) months or more between two (2) periods of disability, and the employee worked two hundred (200) hours during the intervening period, the second period of disability shall not be considered as being due to the same or related cause of causes as the first disability.

(e) Occupational Disabilities

- (1) Benefits payable for any period shall be reduced by any payments for time lost from work in that period to which the employee is entitled under any Workers' Compensation Law or Act or any Occupational Disease Law or Act.
- (2) No deduction shall be made for any payments under such laws specifically for hospitalization or medical expense, or specific allowances for loss, or 100% loss of use, of member or disfigurements.

(f) Unemployment Compensation

Benefits payable for any period shall be reduced by any payments of unemployment benefits to which the employee is entitled for that period under any Unemployment Compensation Law.

(g) Notice and Proof of Claim

- (1) Written notice of injury or sickness in the form of written statement from a physician legally licensed to practice medicine must be received by the insurance company or the Payroll Office of the employer within ten (10) calendar days after the date of the accident causing such injury or the commencement of disability resulting from such sickness. If such written statement is not received within the initial ten (10) day period, no benefits shall be payable prior to the date such statement is received. Proof of such injury or sickness must be furnished to the insurance company within sixty (60) days after the commencement of disability for an employee to be eligible for Sickness and Accident Benefits.
- (2) The insurance company shall have the right to have such medical examinations of an employee who is eligible to receive Sickness and Accident Benefits, as it may reasonably require, made by a physician or physicians designated by it.
- (3) No legal action shall be brought by an employee to recover from the insurance company prior to the expiration of 60 days after proof of claim has been filed in

accordance with the requirements of the Plan, nor shall such action be brought at all unless brought within three (3) years from the expiration of the time within which proof of claim is required by the Plan.

(h) Payment of Claim

- (1) Subject to due proof of claim, the weekly benefits will be paid to the employee each week during any period of disability for which such benefits are payable and any balance remaining unpaid at the termination of such period will be paid immediately upon receipt of proof.
- (2) If disability is due to or accompanied by mental incapacity, all or any part of such weekly benefits, may, at the option of the insurance company, be paid to the beneficiary of record of the employee or to any other person or institution then in the judgment of the insurance company contributing toward or providing for the care or maintenance of the employee.

(i) Benefit for Chemical Dependency

- (1) Employees who have met the requirements to receive Sickness and Accident benefits and who have been referred for treatment or have voluntarily presented themselves for treatment for chemical dependency shall receive Sickness and Accident benefits for the initial inpatient treatment program followed up by enrollment in an ongoing outpatient treatment program. Benefits will be paid upon verification from a licensed physician or proof of admission in a medical facility. Monthly progress reports will be required every thirty (30) days confirming that each scheduled appointment has been kept, that the employee is adhering to all prescriptions and proscriptions as instructed and is remaining substance free. If or when treatment is discontinued, the Department must be notified. No additional benefits will be paid for any absence that may occur within a twelve-month period that is related to the chemical dependency.
- (2) Following hospitalization and during outpatient treatment, the employee will be held to the same standards of attendance and performance as other employees. Repetition of the behavior that led to the initial treatment will be regarded as a violation of Department policy regarding chemical dependency treatment and chemical dependency will not be regarded a mitigating circumstance if discipline is indicated and such employees shall be ineligible for Sickness & Accident Benefits for any illness or disability related to chemical dependency for twelve (12) months after return to work.
- (3) Such employees who fail to submit themselves for prescribed treatment by licensed physician and prescribed out-outpatient treatment or follow-up will be ineligible for Sickness & Accident Benefits.

EXTENDED DISABILITY BENEFIT INSURANCE:

(a) Eligibility

Extended Disability Benefit Insurance shall be provided while an employee is insured for Sickness and Accident Insurance, but not beyond normal minimum retirement date or if an employee does not qualify for a pension, age 62.

An employee who is insured for Sickness and Accident Benefits and who, at the date of expiration of the maximum number of weeks for which they are entitled to receive Sickness and Accident Benefits and during a continuous period of disability thereafter, is totally disabled, shall receive monthly Extended Disability Benefits for the period described in subsection (c) below.

For an employee to be deemed totally disabled, they must not be engaged in regular employment or occupation for remuneration or profit and be wholly prevented from engaging in regular employment or occupation with the City in the classification where they have seniority as a result of bodily injury or disease, either occupational or non-occupational in cause for a period of two (2) years and thereafter any occupation with the City.

For new hires, preexisting conditions shall not be covered. The Union shall be held harmless by the City in any lawsuit regarding a dispute arising out of preexisting conditions language in the agreement.

(b) Amount of Benefit

- (1) The monthly Extended Disability Benefit is as set forth in section 44 K-1 of the Contract reduced by an amount equal to the monthly equivalent of the total of the following benefits for which the person receiving Extended Disability Benefits is eligible:
 - (i) Lost time benefits under Worker's Compensation Laws or other laws providing benefits for occupational injury or disease, including lump-sum settlement, but excluding specific allowances for loss, or 100% loss of use, of a body member.
 - (ii) Disability or Old-Age Insurance Benefits (primary insurance amounts only) to which the person is entitled under the Federal Social Security Act or any future legislation providing similar benefits, except old-age benefits reduced because of the age at which received.
 - (iii) Benefits under any state or federal law providing benefits for working time lost because of disability.
 - (iv) Any government paid income benefits paid as a result of City service.

- (2) In determining the amount by which Extended Disability Benefits are reduced:
 - (i) The monthly equivalent of benefits paid on weekly basis is computed by multiplying the weekly benefit rate by 4.33.
 - (ii) Lump-sum settlements under state Workers' Compensation Laws result in reductions equal to the monthly equivalent of the amount of the Workers' Compensation benefit to which the employee would have been entitled under the applicable law had there been no lump-sum payment, but not to exceed in total the amount of the settlement. The amount of such compensation shall be allocated to days of disability for which compensation has not previously been paid, in chronological order until such amount has been fully allocated, at the rate of one-seventh of the weekly Workers' Compensation benefit which would have been applicable under the state law if the claim had been allowed and if there had been no lump sum settlement.
 - (iii) The amount of a person's benefit under subsection b (1) above shall not be increased subsequent to the first day for which Extended Disability Benefits are payable, except that the amount of such increase shall not be disregarded if it represents an adjustment in the original determination of the amount of such benefit.
 - (iv) The amount of monthly Extended Disability Benefit shall not be reduced by any increase in an employee's benefit under subsection b(1) above that is effective subsequent to the first day for which an employee's Extended Disability Benefit is reduced because of receipt of such benefit. However, the amount of Extended Disability Benefit shall be reduced by any such increase which represents an adjustment in the original determination of the amount of the employee's benefit under subsection b(1).
- Disability Insurance Benefits. However, during the pendency of an employee's application for Social Security Disability Insurance Benefits the employee will receive Extended Disability Benefit as described in Section 44-K-1 of this contract. If an employee is granted Social Security Disability Insurance Benefits, Extended Disability Benefit payments shall cease until such time that the amount of Social Security benefits that the employee received equals the amount of Extended Disability Benefits withheld. Employees who are denied Social Security benefits shall receive full Extended Disability Benefits, provided that such denial was not for refusal to accept vocational rehabilitation services. If the denial was for this reason then the Extended Disability Benefit amount will be reduced by the amount of Social Security Disability Insurance that the employee would have been entitled to had he accepted vocational rehabilitation services.
- (4) Benefits payable for less than a full calendar month are prorated on the basis of the ratio of calendar days of eligibility to total calendar days in the month.

(5) The City may require each applicant or recipient of Extended Disability Benefits to certify or furnish verification of the amounts of their income from sources listed in subsection b(1) above not more than once in a twelve (12) month period.

(c) Commencement and Duration of Benefits

- (1) Extended Disability Benefits to an eligible applicant shall be for the period commencing twenty-one (21) weeks from the date of disability. To be eligible for Extended Disability Benefits an employee must have depleted his vacation and casual leave banks.
- The maximum period during which Extended Disability Benefits may be payable shall be equal to one-half the employee's service with the City, rounded to the nearest month, or the normal minimum retirement date of the employee, whichever occurs first, or if not eligible for a pension age 62, but in no event beyond the date of death, or the time that they no longer satisfy the disability requirement. If an employee's return to work with the City does not qualify them for a new period of Sickness and Accident Benefits or if they engage in some gainful occupation or employment other than one for which they are reasonably qualified by education, training or experience, their satisfying of the disability requirement shall not be deemed to end, but their Extended Disability Benefit shall be suspended for the period of the return to work or the period they engage in such occupation or employment.
- (3) If monthly Extended Disability Benefits payable to an employee are discontinued because the employee no longer satisfies the disability requirement, and within two (2) weeks of the effective date of such discontinuance and before the employee returns to work with the City, they again become disabled so as to satisfy the disability requirement, monthly Extended Disability Benefits will be resumed.
- (4) If disability is due to or accompanied by mental incapacity, all or any part of such monthly Extended Disability Benefits may, at the option of the City, be paid to the beneficiary of record of the employee or to any other person or institution then in the judgement of the City contributing toward or providing for the care or maintenance of the employee.

(d) Rehabilitation

There is no ineligibility for Extended Disability Benefits because of work which is determined to be primarily for training under a recognized program of vocational rehabilitation.

(e) Proof of Disability

The City may require an applicant, as condition of eligibility, to submit to examinations by a physician designated by it for the purpose of determining their initial or continuing disability.

(f) Eligibility List

If an employee is no longer eligible for Extended Disability Benefits because the maximum period for benefits has been reached, the City will attempt to place the employee in a vacant position which the employee is qualified to fill. If the City is unable to place the employee in such a position the employee will be placed on an "Employee Availability List". As vacancies occur the City will review such vacancies to see whether the employee is qualified to fill them. If the employee is qualified, the City will place the employee in such position. This provision shall not conflict with the Human Resources Department's Reduction in Force Rules.

APPENDIX B

LONG TERM DISABILITY

1. TABLE OF BENEFITS

This table of benefits must only be interpreted in conjunction with other provisions of the plan.

Elimination Periods:

An employee shall not be eligible for Long Term Disability Benefits until after all of the following have been exhausted:

- 1. The seven (7) day waiting period for Sickness and Accident Benefits, where applicable.
- 2. The twenty (20) weeks Sickness and Accident Benefits.
- The total accumulated number of days an employee is eligible to receive casual leave days, casual leave time and swing holidays and vacation days under plans sponsored by the employer.

Maximum Benefit Period:

- 1. For an employee who is eligible for a pension, Long Term Disability Benefits may be paid only until the earlier of:
 - a. one-half of the employee's service time with the City, rounded to the nearest month,
 - b. the date on which the employee completes thirty (30) years of service, or
 - c. the date the employee attains sixty (60) years of age with at least eight (8) years of service.
- 2. For an employee who is not eligible for a pension, Long Term Disability Benefits may only be paid to the earlier of the date the employee attains age 62 or one-half of the employee's service time with the City, rounded to the nearest month.

In no event shall benefits be paid after the date the employee accepts employment in any capacity with any employer.

Benefit Class
All bargaining unit employees

Employees Monthly Benefit Amount
An amount equal to 50% of the employee's monthly earnings rounded to the nearest multiple of a dollar.

2. **DEFINITIONS**

In the Plan,

- 1. "City" means the City of Detroit.
- 2. "Proof" means proof satisfactory to the City and shall include a medical examination if required by the City.
- 3. "Employer" means the City of Detroit, Department of Transportation.
- 4. "Employee" means and includes a person who is in the service of the Employer.
- 5. "Employ", "employed", "employment" and the like, refer to employment with the Employer.
- 6. "Monthly Earnings" unless otherwise specified in the TABLE OF BENEFITS, means the current basic hourly rate of pay multiplied by 40, multiplied by 4.33, received by the employee from the Employer.
- 7. "Service" means employment with the Employer on an active, permanent, full-time and full pay basis, but does not mean:
 - (1) employment on a temporary, seasonal or part-time basis, or
 - (2) employment where the employee works less than 40 hours per week with the Employer, or
 - (3) employment at a location other than the Employer's usual and customary place of business unless it is a location to which the Employer's business requires the employee to travel;
- 8. "Work" means service with the Employer.
- 9. "Plan" means the Long Term Disability Benefit Plan of the City of Detroit.

3. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

In the Plan,

- 1. Any application notice, report, proof or request to be made or given to or filed with the Employer must be in writing and must be so made or given to or filed with the Employer at its Main Office.
- 2. Words implying the masculine gender include the feminine.

4. TERMINATION OF AN EMPLOYEE'S COVERAGE

The coverage of an employee under the Plan terminates automatically on the earliest of the following dates:

- 1. The date of termination of the Plan, or
- 2. The date of termination of service with the Employer, or
- 3. In respect of:
 - (a) An employee who is eligible for a pension, the date on which he completes 30 years of service, or attains age 60 with at least 8 years of service, whichever occurs first.
 - (b) In respect of an employee who is not eligible for a pension, the date on which he attains age 62.
 - (c) But in no event more than one year of benefit for two years of service.

5. EXTENDED BENEFITS AFTER TERMINATION OF THE PLAN

If prior to the termination of the Plan, an employee is considered to have a Total Disability (defined in the Plan) on the date his coverage terminates due to termination of the Plan, he/she shall be entitled during the continuance of the disability to any Long Term Disability Benefits that would have been payable had the coverage not terminated.

6. QUALIFICATION FOR BENEFITS

Subject to other provisions and qualifications contained herein, if the accidental bodily injury or a sickness results in an employee's Total Disability and if such Total Disability commences while the employee is covered under the Plan and continues for at least the number of days of the Elimination Period (shown in the TABLE OF BENEFITS in Section 1) the employee shall be entitled to the payment of benefits determined in accordance with Section 7 which is entitled AMOUNT PAYABLE. Such benefits:

- Shall commence on the first (day following the number of consecutive days of the Elimination Period (stated in the TABLE OF BENEFITS), and
- 2. Shall continue for not more than the Maximum Benefit Period (stated in the TABLE OF BENEFITS) during any one Period of Disability.

It is hereby provided that:

- 1. No benefits shall be paid for any portion of a Period of Disability after the earlier of the following dates:
 - (a). the date of cessation of Total Disability

- (b). the date on which an employee retires
- (c). the date an employee who is eligible for pension completes 30 years of service or attains age 60 with 8 years of service
- (d). the date an employee who is not eligible for pension attains age 62.

In no event shall an employee receive more than one year of benefits for each two years of service.

In no event shall benefits be paid after the date the employee accepts employment in any capacity with any employer.

2. Total Disability shall be deemed to continue during a Rehabilitation Program (defined herein).

For the purposes of the Plan,

- "Accidental Bodily Injury", subject to the conditions and limitations contained in section on BENEFIT LIMITATIONS, means a bodily injury caused by an Accident which occurred after the effective date of the employee's coverage under the plan and which results directly and independently of all other causes in Total Disability.
- 2. "Sickness" subject to the conditions and limitations contained in subsection on BENEFIT LIMITATIONS, means a disease, illness or pregnancy.
- "Total Disability" means the complete inability of a covered employee because of
 accidental bodily injury or sickness to engage in their regular occupation or employment
 with the Employer on a full-time basis for remuneration or profit.
- 4. "Rehabilitation Program" means a program of rehabilitation in which the employee engages after qualifying for benefits hereunder and which is approved by the Employer. Any of the following may be eligible for consideration as a Rehabilitation Program:
 - (a). The employee's regular occupation on a part-time basis:
 - (b). A formal vocational training program.

The Rehabilitation Program shall continue until the earlier of the following dates:

- (i) The date on which the employee is able to perform their regular occupation on a full-time basis, or
- (ii) The date which is 24 months after the end of the Elimination Period.
- 5. "Amount of Indemnity" means an employee's Basic Monthly Benefit Amount in accordance with the TABLE OF BENEFITS.
- 6. "Period of Disability" means that period which commences with the date the employee is first absent from work as a result of Total Disability and which continues for at least the number of consecutive days of the Elimination Period (stated in the TABLE OF BENEFITS).

Subsequent periods of Total Disability suffered by an employee while they are covered hereunder shall be considered as occurring in the same Period of Disability, except:

- (a). When the later disability is due to causes wholly different from those of the prior disability and the employee works, excluding service during a Rehabilitation Program, 200 hours or more in the 3 month period immediately following their return to work, or
- (b). When the later disability is due in whole or in part to causes related to those of the prior disability and the employee completes at least 3 months of continuous service, excluding service during a Rehabilitation Program, before commencement of the later disability, or
- (c). When the later disability, regardless of cause, commences more than 2 weeks after the date the employee's benefits under this Plan were terminated and the employee has not returned to work.
- 7. "Regular Occupation" means the duties equal or similar to those duties performed by the employee in the classification in which they have seniority immediately prior to the commencement of a Period of Disability.
- 8. "Physician" means
 - (a). A duly qualified physician who is legally licensed to practice medicine or osteopathy, or
 - (b). To the extent that this contract provides coverage for services they are licensed to perform, any other practitioner of the healing arts who performs a service within the scope of their license and for whom the law of the applicable State requires that such service be covered.
- 9. "Hospital" means an institution which
 - (a). Is legally constituted as a hospital,
 - (b). is open at all times,
 - (c). is operated primarily for the care of sick and injured persons as inpatients,
 - (d). has a staff of one or more licensed physicians available at all times,
 - (e). continuously provides twenty-four (24) hour nursing services by graduate registered nurses,
 - (f). provides organized facilities for diagnosis, and
 - (g). is not primarily a clinic, nursing, rest or convalescent home or similar establishment, nor other than incidentally a place for drug addicts.

7. AMOUNT PAYABLE

The amount of the monthly benefit to which the employee is entitled is the Basic Monthly Benefit amount in accordance with the TABLE OF BENEFITS as of the date of the commencement of the Period of Disability, except that such amount will be reduced by the sum of:

1. The primary Social Security benefits to which an employee is entitled under the Social Security Act of the United States.

For the purposes of this Section,

- (a) An employee shall be deemed to be entitled to benefits under the Social Security Act of the United States whether or not he is actually so entitled, unless satisfactory evidence is submitted to the Employer indicating that such benefits were applied for and denied.
- (b) The amount of the initial entitlement under said Act for a Period of Disability shall be deemed not to have been increased by any Social Security increases which result from a change in the Social Security Act, or an increase in the Consumer Price Index as provided under said Act.
- (c) The employee's Amount of Indemnity shall be reduced by an amount equal to Social Security Disability Insurance Benefits that would have been payable except for the employee's refusal to accept vocational rehabilitation services.
- 2. The monthly amount or the monthly equivalent of any indemnity to which he is entitled in accordance with the provisions of any state or federal law providing benefits for working time lost as a result of disability, such as Workers' Compensation, No-Fault or similar law, including lump sum settlements, but excluding specific allowances for loss, or 100% loss of use, of a body member.
- 3. The monthly amount of the periodic payments to which the employee is entitled under plans or laws of any government or subdivision thereof, other than under (1) and (2) above, and except the portion they were receiving prior to the effective date of his coverage hereunder.
- 4. The monthly amount of the remuneration they may receive from the Employer during a Period of Disability, including any government income benefits paid as a result of service with the Employer.

It is hereby provided that:

- (A) In determining the amount by which the employee's Amount of Indemnity is reduced:
 - (1) The monthly equivalent of benefits paid on weekly basis shall be computed by multiplying the weekly benefit rate by 4.33.

(2) Lump sum settlements under Workers' Compensation, No-Fault or similar law shall result in reductions in the Basic Monthly Benefit equal to the monthly amount of the benefit to which an employee would have been entitled had there been no lump sum settlement, but not to exceed the total amount of the settlement.

In the event the lump sum settlement is made for a period of disability for which the full Basis Monthly Benefit has previously been paid, the lump sum settlement will be allocated to future amounts in chronological order in an amount equal to the Basic Monthly Benefit until the full amount of the lump sum settlement is allocated. Payment of the Basic Monthly Benefit will cease until the time the full amount of the lump sum settlement has been allocated. Should the disability continue beyond such time, payment of the Basic Monthly Benefit will resume.

Should the cessation of disability, termination of the plan, the ineligibility of the employee for future benefits or any other factor cause there to have been an overpayment, the employer shall be entitled to reimbursement from the employee.

- (B) Once an employee's Basic Monthly Benefit amount is determined, it shall not be changed unless the change represents an adjustment in the original determination of the employee's monthly benefit amount.
- (C) The City shall pay a fraction of the amount determined under this section for any portion of a Period of Disability which is less than a full month. Such fraction shall be the number of calendar days an employee is entitled to receive benefits divided by the total number of calendar days in the month for which benefits are due.
- (D) The City may require certification of the employee's amount of income from sources (1) through (4) above, but not more than once in any 12 month period.
- (E) If Total Disability is due to or accompanied by mental incapacity, any of all of the employee's monthly benefit amount may, at the option of the City, be paid to the employee's beneficiary of record or to any other person or institution then, in the judgment of the City, contributing toward or providing for the care or maintenance of the employee. Any such payment shall constitute a full discharge of the liability of the City to the extent thereof.

8. BENEFIT LIMITATIONS

No benefits shall be payable hereunder for or on account of:

1. An accidental bodily injury arising out of or in the course of any employment for remuneration or profit other than with the Employer.

- 2. Accidental bodily injury or sickness which is the result of war, declared or undeclared.
- 3. Any sickness due to a mental, or emotional disorder of any type after 24 months of benefits have been paid, unless the employee continues to be confined in a hospital as a registered bed-patient.
- 4. Accidental bodily injury or sickness.
 - (a) For which the employee is not continuously under the regular care and attendance of a physician, and;
 - (b) If the sickness is due to a mental or emotional disorder of any type, for which the employee is not receiving continuing treatment from a physician certified in psychiatry.
- 5. Intentionally self-inflicted bodily injury or sickness.
- 6. Accidental bodily injury or sickness due to alcoholism, drug addiction or the use of any hallucinogenic.
- 7. A bodily injury or sickness which results from committing or attempting to commit an assault or crime.

GENERAL PROVISIONS

ENTIRE CONTRACT: CHANGES

The contract and the individual application, if any, of the employees covered shall constitute the entire contract between the parties. All statements made by individual employees shall, in the absence of fraud, be deemed representations and not warranties and no such statement shall be used in defense of a claim under this contract unless it is contained in an individual application of an employee.

No change in the contract shall be valid until approved by the parties to the contract and unless such approval be endorsed by the parties and attached hereto.

No agent of the parties has authority to change the contract or to waive any of its provisions.

NOTICE OF CLAIM

Written notice of claim, in the form of a statement of verification of disability from a physician licensed to practice medicine, must be given to the Employer within 10 days after the occurrence or commencement of disability covered by this contract, or as soon thereafter as is reasonably possible. Such notice given by or on behalf of the covered employee to the Employer at its main office with information sufficient to identify the employee, shall be deemed notice to the Employer.

CLAIM FORMS

If written notice of claim is not made on forms furnished by the Employer for filing proof of claims, the Employer, upon receipt of the notice of claim, will furnish to the claimant such forms as are required for filing proofs of claim. If such forms are not mailed to the last address given the Employer by the claimant within ten (10) days after giving such notice, the claimant shall be deemed to have complied with the requirements of this contract as to proof of loss upon submitting, within the time fixed in this contract for filing proof of claim, written proof covering the occurrence, the character and extent of the disability for which claim is made.

PROOFS OF CLAIM

Written proof of loss must be furnished to the Employer at its main office within 90 days after the termination of the period for which the City is liable. Failure to furnish such proof within the time required shall not invalidate nor reduce any claim if it was not reasonably possible to give such proof within such time, provided such proof is furnished as soon as reasonably possible and in no event, except in the absence of legal capacity, later than one year from the time proof is otherwise required.

TIME OF PAYMENT OF CLAIMS

Subject to due written proof of loss, all accrued indemnities will be paid to the covered employee each month during any period for which the Employer is liable and any balance remaining unpaid upon the termination of liability will be paid immediately upon receipt of due written proof.

PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS

The City, at its own expense, shall have the right and opportunity to examine the person of the covered employee when and so often as it may reasonably require during the pendency of a claim hereunder.

LEGAL ACTIONS

No action at law or in equity shall be brought to recover on the contract prior to the expiration of 60 days after written proof of loss has been furnished in accordance with the requirements of this contract. No such action shall be brought after the expiration of three (3) years after the time written proof of loss is required to be furnished.

CONFORMITY WITH STATE STATUES

Any provision of the contract which, on its effective date, is in conflict with the statutes of the State of Michigan on such date is hereby amended to conform to the minimum requirements of such statutes.